Adult Learners in Higher Education: An Examination of Academic, Social and Environmental Needs as Perceived by Adult Learners and Faculty.

by

Reginald K. Roberson

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama December 16, 2017

Keywords: adult education, academic, social, environmental, adult learner

Copyright 2017 by Reginald K. Roberson

Approved by

Maria Witte, Chair, Professor of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology Leslie Cordie, Assistant Professor of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology James Witte, Professor of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology

Abstract

In recent years, colleges and universities have witnessed an increase in the number of adult learners entering higher education (Hardin, 2008; Osgood-Treston, 2001). The growth in adult students attending college encourages institutions to better understand the specific needs of the adult learner population. While adult learners may enter higher education for a variety reasons, nontraditional learners generally face similar challenges while pursuing academic endeavors. The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. This study used quantitative measures in its design by using the survey method. The survey, with a convenience sample of 136 adult learners and 74 faculty members was used to measure responses to each of the research questions. The dependent variables of this study were academic, social and environmental needs; whereas, the independent variables included adult learners and faculty members. To analyze the research data, three 2 x 2 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) tests were used to compare means between adult learners and faculty perceptions to academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners in a four-year setting. The quantitative findings of the study indicated a statistically significant interaction occurred between part-time and full-time status in relation to academic needs. The results also indicated a statistically significant interaction occurred between part-time and full-time status regarding adult learner environmental needs No other relationships were found through the analyses of participant data.

Acknowledgments

I begin this section by thanking my Lord and Savior for all his many blessings over the years. Without your presence in my life, I would not have made it thus far. I also thank three women who are anchors in my life from childhood to adulthood. My mother Carolyn has been my rock every step of the way, and has shown me the meaning of unconditional love for family, and the importance of hard work and determination. I love you momma. To my grandmother, Amie, I thank you for your continued prayers and unwavering love and support throughout the years. Your wisdom has truly influenced my life and helped mold me to who I am today. I also take this time to thank my aunt, Judy for being a strong inspiration in my life and more than an aunt to me, a second mother who love unconditionally. You instilled in me the value of education many years ago, and that influence has motivated me to continue reaching higher.

To my beloved grandfather, Edward, although you may not be here physically, I know you are with me spiritually. Thank you for teaching me so many things in life. You taught me the true meaning of "it takes a village to raise a child", and the importance of hard work and love for family. To my brother, LaJarus, thank you for being a proud big brother and always supporting and encouraging me throughout the years. To my father, Robert, thank you for being my dad, showing love in your own way, and influencing my life in more ways than you may realize. To Mack and Rosa, I extend a special thanks to both of you for your unwavering support, prayers, and motivation over the last few years, as I moved through this academic journey. You both exemplify the true meaning of family and the power of supporting each other.

I also express my deepest gratitude to each of my committee members, Dr. Maria Witte, Dr. Leslie Cordie, and Dr. James Witte for their continued support throughout my entire program, including the completion of my dissertation project. Each of you welcomed me into the program with open arms, believed in my talents and helped me believe that completing this program was possible. Over the last few years, each of you have certainly motivated me to learn as much as possible about the field of Adult Education and to continue moving forward in my writing. I am both grateful and humble for the opportunity to learn under your guidance. Thank you and War Eagle!

Table of Contents

bstract	. ii
.cknowledgments	. iii
ist of Tables	. iv
hapter I: Introduction	1
Overview	1
Academic Needs	4
Social Needs	4
Environmental Needs	6
Statement of the Research Problem	7
Purpose of the Study	8
Significance of the Study	8
Research Questions	9
Limitations and Assumptions	10
Definition of Terms	11
Chapter Summary	12
hapter II: Review of Literature	14
Purpose of the Study	14
Research Questions	14
Significance of the Study	15

	Introduction	. 15
	Defining Adult Learners	. 18
	Theoretical Frameworks	. 21
	Learning Theories	. 26
	Adult Learner Needs in Higher Education	. 31
	Academic Needs	. 34
	Social Needs	. 39
	Environmental Needs	. 44
	Chapter Summary	. 47
Chapte	er III: Methods	. 49
	Introduction	. 49
	Purpose of the Study	. 49
	Research Questions	. 50
	Significance of the Study	. 50
	Design of the Study	. 51
	Protection of Human Participants	. 52
	Sample Selection	. 52
	Data Collection Procedures.	. 55
	Instrument Development	. 56
	Data Collection and Coding	. 58
	Chapter Summary	60
Chapte	er IV: Results	61
	Introduction	61

	Purpose of the Study	61
	Research Questions	62
	Significance of the Study	62
	Instrumentation of Reliability and Validity	64
	Description of the Sample	64
	Quantitative Data Findings	68
	Qualitative Data Findings	72
	Chapter Summary	75
Chapte	er V: Discussion, Implications, and Areas for Further Research	. 77
	Purpose of the Study	. 77
	Research Questions	. 77
	Discussion of Findings	80
	Implications	84
	Areas for Further Research	93
	Chapter Summary	94
Refere	nces	98
Appen	dix A: Information Letters	112
Appen	dix B: Auburn University Institutional Review Board	117
Appen	dix C: Troy University Institutional Review Board	121
Appen	dix D: Faculty Instructional Letter	123
Appen	dix E: Scripts	125
Annen	dix F. Instrument	130

List of Tables

Table 1: Participating Faculty Members' Employment Status	65
Table 2: Participating Faculty Members' Gender	65
Table 3: Participating Faculty Members' Age Ranges	66
Table 4: Participating Adult Learners' Enrollment Status	67
Table 5: Participating Adult Learners' Genders	67
Table 6: Participating Adult Learners' Age Range	68
Table 7: 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA (Between-Subjects) for Academic Needs	69
Table 8: 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA (Between-Subjects) for Social Needs	70
Table 9: 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA (Between-Subjects) for Environmental Needs	71

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Overview

In recent years, colleges and universities have experienced continual growth amongst the adult student population. In 1980, less than 4 million college students were age 25 and older; this number expanded to 6 million by the year 2000 (Chao & Good, 2004). Wyatt (2011) advised the undergraduate student population on many college campuses throughout the United States now include a significant number of nontraditional students. Per the U.S. Department of Education (2005), as cited by Guidos and Dooris (2008), higher education institutes are estimated to rise by nearly 2 million students between 2000 and 2014. Knowles (1975) demonstrated that learning is as a lifelong process and should not be confined to youth only. Although adult learners have transformed the traditional characteristics of undergraduate students; the bureaucratic nature of many colleges and universities create a disconnect between the adult learner and the institution (Schlossberg, Lynch & Chickering, 1989).

A variety of influences have aided in escalating adult student enrollment across higher education. Ross-Gordon (2011) asserted some of the factors include shifting demands within the workplace, technological changes, and an aging population. While some adult learners access higher education to earn a degree, others engage in higher learning to acquire job specific skills to advance in their career (Kasworm, 2012). Schmidt (2013) proposed that, in recent years, more adults are changing jobs and shifting career paths than in the past. In many instances, career

changes often require additional education. Klein-Collins (2011) argued adult student enrollment increased as more adults associate higher learning with improved economic success. Accelerated programs and distance education have also aided non-traditional students in overcoming location and time related barriers that often exist in their pursuit of post-secondary education (Donaldson & Graham, 2002).

According to Wyatt (2011), adult learners face distinctive barriers to education in comparison to their traditional counterparts. Ross-Gordon (2011) suggested adult learners are challenged with maintaining multiple roles while furthering their education. For instance, the adult student community is comprised of a diverse group of full-time and part-time employees, parents, and community leaders (Coulter & Mandell, 2012). Although multiple life roles may provide social support for the learner, they also restrict the student's allocation of time toward academic study (Ross-Gordon, 2011). Adult learners are also challenged with overcoming a lack of academic preparation, while circumventing financial hurdles (Spellman, 2007). In addition to academic and financial barriers, adult students must overcome obstacles related to extensive family obligations, along with, cultural and social expectations and issues (Spellman, 2007). Merrill (2015) advised issues related to student retention and withdrawals is a complex interaction between student, institution and external influences.

Adult learners typically enter college with a wealth of life experience and previous academic involvement. However, because of their time away from the educational environment, many adult students face academic struggles (Worth & Stephens, 2011). Moreover, Klein-Collins (2011) suggested adult learners generally fear academic failure, especially if their previous participation in education was not a positive experience. These factors increase the risk of adult learners not completing their degree program. Additional research supports this idea by

describing adult learners as full-time employees who are part-time students with dependents (Kenner & Weinerman, 2011). Merrill (2015) advised returning to education for working adults is not an easy task, particularly if the objective is to pursue an undergraduate degree in higher education. Although higher education may help one secure a better future, adult learners typically experience academic challenges, struggles integrating into the institutional culture, as well as, obstacles in their personal lives (Merrill, 2015).

Kasworm (2008) argued that although some adults enter college to continue a previously interrupted academic journey, and others enter the higher education to embark upon a new unfamiliar territory; there exist a commonality amongst this student population. In comparison to their younger collegiate counterparts, adult learners, typically enter college with a desire to successfully manage the existing responsibilities in their lives, while adding new academic expectations associated with the role of student (Kasworm, 2008). Per Graham and Donaldson (1999), adult learners are often fearful of returning to school and typically have concerns regarding whether they have the same intellectual aptitude as the traditional-aged students on campus. Literature concerning adult learners has consistently highlighted feelings of alienation that exist amongst the adult student community (Plageman, 2011).

The unique attributes of nontraditional students have resulted in new challenges for educational leaders in their attempt to address the needs of all students. To meet the needs of adult students, colleges and universities are encouraged to implement programs and services, and create a campus climate, that embraces adults in all academic programs (Kasworm, Polson, & Fishback, 2002). While adult student enrollment has significantly increased over recent decades, institutions have continuously experienced low retention rates amongst this segment of students (Taniguchi & Kaufman, 2005). To address declining retention rates, institutions have made

modification to admission policies and academic programming (Plageman, 2011). For instance, more institutions have developed accelerated programs, hybrid and distance learning courses, as well as, awarded college credit for life experiences (Donaldson & Townsend, 2007).

Academic Needs

Metzner and Bean (1987) asserted that academic needs are a critical component to the overall student experience, and has a major influence on the retention of adult learners. Watters (2003) asserted that as universities attract more adult learners, research suggests majority of adult learners lack the traditional academic skills and abilities possessed by traditional students entering the collegiate environment. Therefore, it is imperative to understand academic factors in higher education that affect student departure amongst adult learners. Although Tinto (1975) asserted that a student's primary focus, when entering college, is to feel socially integrated; they are also concerned with meeting the academic requirements as well.

Not all students enter the college setting with the necessary tools needed to meet the cognitive demands required to succeed at the collegiate level (Hlinka, 2017). While academic integration has been viewed as essential to student persistence in college (Tinto, 1993); little attention has been directed toward the capabilities of college students to reach higher levels of cognition that is required by college level work (Decker, 2013). Pascarella and Terenzini (1991) asserted that student persistence is also influenced by faculty teaching abilities, coupled with the instructional design of the course, and the overall organization of the course materials.

Social Needs

Donaldson (1999) theorized that adult learners found learning experiences in the classroom, and interactions with their faculty, more meaningful than younger learners. Graham and Donaldson (1999) postulated that older learners are less involved in campus activities;

however, they employed various techniques to compensate for the limited time on campus (Donaldson, 1999). Astin (1984) defined student involvement in terms of student behavior; a higher level of student involvement was associated with student persistence, while limited engagement was connected to student departure. Chapman and Pascarella (1983) postulated that although student engagement varies across institutions, nontraditional students experience minimal levels of social integration regardless of the type of institution attended. Rosier (2016) suggested this is primarily due to the limited amount of time nontraditional students have to participate in social activities.

Kuh, Cruce, Shoup, Kinzie, and Gonyea (2008) defined student engagement as the amount of time and effort a student dedicates toward his studies and other academic activities. Student engagement was also described in terms of the resources and support services institutions deploy to encourage student participation in campus activities designed to increase student persistence, satisfaction and completion (Kuh et al., 2008). Pascarella and Terenzini (2005) suggested the overall impact of postsecondary education is largely influenced by a student's individual involvement in the academic, interpersonal and extracurricular activities offered at the institution.

Much of the literature on student persistence highlights the importance of student integration as a significant contributor to persistence (Pascarella &Terenzini, 1983; Spady, 1971). Tinto (1989) asserted that an adequate network of peer support can substitute the need of student correspondence with the larger college environment. Spady (1971) advised student persistence is influenced by the student's individual perception of his integration into the institution's environment rather than an objective measure. Astin (1975) emphasized that the more a student becomes involved with others at the institution the greater the probability of

persistence. It is also argued the size of the institution may impact persistence rates amongst adult learners. Tinto (1975) hypothesized that smaller institutions may be able to enhance persistence due to lower student-faculty rations, which may lead to stronger student-faculty engagement. However, larger institutions may have the advantage of being more heterogeneous, providing a diverse set of student subcultures which may also further enhance social integration into the institution (Tinto, 1975).

Environmental Needs

Adult learners are less likely to earn a postsecondary degree, in comparison to their traditional counterparts, due to external factors (Rosier, 2016). Bean and Metzner (1985) suggested external environmental factors have a greater impact than academic variables on student persistence amongst adult learners. Although many adult learners enroll in postsecondary education on a part-time basis; a significant number of these students' express higher levels of concern regarding financial obligations in higher education than their traditional age counterparts (Chickering, 1974). Carney-Crompton and Tan (2002) suggested the household income, total number of dependents in the household, along with the amount of financial aid received, are all important variables that determine the persistence rate of adult learners. Faircloth (2003) noted a significant number of adult students seek financial assistance in meeting the financial obligations of pursuing their academic objectives.

Spellman (2007) indicated that adults who pursue academic programs or training often face multiple barriers, such as, financial hardships, family obligations, and a lack of academic preparation. In many circumstances, adult learners are first generation college students, and because of this, support of family and peers is vital to their academic performance in higher education (Hardin, 2008). Ritt (2008) suggested personal barriers also consist of lack of

childcare services, fear of returning to school, work related activities and schedule conflicts. Although many employers value education, professional barriers remain constant exist in the workplace. Adult learners, who are employed, may have trouble adjusting their schedule to attend classes in the evening or on the weekends (Ritt, 2008).

Many adult learners often experience opposition in their personal and professional lives that may serve as a barrier to completing their academic endeavors. Kerka (1998) stated this type of obstacle may occur when either family, peers, or professional colleagues feel threatened by the adult student's goals or academic successes. Benshoff and Lewis (1992) hypothesized that adult learners generally experienced limited acceptance and support, from their peers and family, when their responsibilities as students took energy away from their personal and professional lives. However, with the support of family and friends, and appropriate study skills, adult learners are more likely to persist in higher education and do well in the academic programs (Dill & Henley, 1998).

Statement of the Research Problem

While the number of adult learners at four-year institutions continue to rise, it is imperative the relationship between adult learner and faculty improve as well. Although adult students make up a significant portion of student enrollment for many four-year institutions; there is a lack of investigation into the stated needs of adult learners attending four-year institutions and the perceived needs of adult learners according to faculty. While considerable research exists concerning traditional-age students attending four-year universities, and adult learners at community colleges, only limited research seeks to address the persistence of adult learners attending traditional four-year universities (Guidos & Dooris, 2008). Donaldson and Townsend (2007) argued that despite recent enrollment shifts in higher education, to include the

increasing number of adult students on college campuses, scholars have devoted limited attention to the adult student community and its impact on higher learning. Academic, social and environmental needs as distinguished by adult learners and faculty have not been explored collectively in the four-year university setting.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, in order to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. Observing these specific needs, through the perceptions of both adult learners and faculty, is essential to providing better support services, and an overall more conductive learning experience for nontraditional students. This study explored the relationships between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at four-year universities.

This study had three primary objectives: (1) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting; (2) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting; (3) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

Significance of the Study

This study is significant because it determined whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty

perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting. This study is also significant because it confirmed if a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting. In addition, the study is significant because it established whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting. At the present time, there is a lack of investigation into the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners attending four-year institutions.

This study focused on the relationship of the stated academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners to the perceptions of those needs by faculty members. Few studies were found that addressed specific needs of adult learners at a traditional four-year university. By addressing the relationship of adult learners and faculty perceptions, universities can better serve this specific population. The information obtained from this study can assist universities in better understanding the needs of adult learners. University faculty and administrators will find this information useful in developing appropriate learning environments for adult learners at their respective institutions. This study adds to the existing body of knowledge regarding the perceived needs of adult learners on university campuses, as perceived by, adult learners and faculty at four-year institutions.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used in this study:

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

Limitations and Assumptions

Limitations

- This study examined students and faculty at one university geographically located in southeast Alabama; thus, generalization beyond the institution within this study should be assumed with caution.
- 2. This study was limited to adult learners that were 19 years of age and over and attending a four-year university.
- 3. This study was limited to faculty members at a four-year university.
- 4. This study was limited to information collected from the Adult Learner Needs Survey.

Assumptions

1. The participants of the study will understand the self-report instrument and will answer all questions as truthful as possible.

- 2. Adult learners' responses to questions regarding their academic, social and environmental needs reflect their individual experiences of academic, social and environmental needs in the four-year university setting.
- 3. Faculty responses to questions about adult learners' academic, social and environmental needs reflect their individual perceptions regarding academic, social and environmental behaviors in the four-year university setting.

Definition of Terms

Academic Needs: These needs, in terms of this research study, include areas of education that could impact learning. These variables include but are not limited to: courses offerings, remedial courses, tutoring services, instructional delivery methods, faculty accessibility, and the teaching-learning process.

Adult learner: Used interchangeably with "nontraditional student" or "adult student." A male or a female student who is over the age of 19 years old who meets any of the following criteria: financially independent; employed full-time; postponed enrollment into postsecondary education; married; person with dependents; a commuter student.

Environmental Needs: These needs, in terms of this research study, are defined as needs or variables which encompass the external learning environment. They include: financial aid services, disability accommodations, library resources, career development, job placement, transportation and support systems from family/friends.

Faculty: Part-time and full-time instructors who are employed by a college or university.

Full-time faculty: A faculty member that is hired on a full-time status and teaches a full course load as defined by the institution.

Full-time student: A student who is enrolled in at least 12 credit hours or more in an academic semester.

Part-time faculty: A faculty member that is hired on a part-time status and teaches less than a full course load as defined by the institution.

Part-time student: A student who is enrolled in less than 12 credit hours in an academic semester.

Social Needs: These needs, in terms of this research study, are defined as needs or variables which address interactions within the learning setting. They include: social activities, clubs/organizations, social engagement with other students, developing friendships, serving others, service to the community through volunteer community work.

Traditional student: A student between the ages of 18 – 24 years who meets the following criteria: enrolls in post-secondary education within the same year that he/she graduates high school, financially dependent on others, without dependents/children, single, and is unemployed or employed no more than part-time.

Chapter Summary

Chapter I provides the introduction to the research study, the statement of the research problem, research questions, and key definitions of terms. Chapter II discusses a review of literature regarding adult learners in higher education, characteristics adult learners, theoretical frameworks, as well as, the needs and challenges of adult learner students in the collegiate environment. Chapter III explores the procedures used in the research study; including the population and sample, instrumentation, data collection procedures, and measures used for data analyses. Chapter IV discusses the research study's findings, while Chapter V reveals the

summary of the research study, conclusions, implications, and potential areas for further research.

CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, in order to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. Observing these specific needs, through the perceptions of both adult learners and faculty, is essential to providing better support services, and an overall more conductive learning experience for nontraditional students. This study explored the relationships between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at four-year universities.

This study had three primary objectives: (1) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting; (2) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting; (3) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used in this study:

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

Significance of the Study

This study is significant because it determined whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting. This study is also significant because it confirmed if a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting. In addition, the study is significant because it established whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

Introduction

Over the past few decades, the landscape of higher education has constantly changed as more adults are entering and returning to colleges and universities (Hardin, 2008). While institutions have witnessed continued growth in nontraditional student enrollments, the

probability of this student group completing their degree has been significantly less than their traditional age counterparts (Bean & Metzner, 1985). Even though nontraditional students display a higher attrition rate than traditional students (Astin, 1975); the reasons why this rate is higher are not clearly understood (Bean & Metzner, 1985). Although a significant portion of research addresses the persistence of the traditional-age students, only a small percentage of literature addresses the adult learner's persistence at four-year institutions (Guidos & Dooris, 2008). While nontraditional students are occasionally combined with traditional students in studies of student attrition, very little research has been solely dedicated to adult learners and their dropout rate (Bean & Metzner, 1985).

During the mid-1990s, the adult learning community accounted for approximately 44% of overall student enrollment within post-secondary education; while at the turn of the century, 73% of undergraduate student enrollment was comprised of adult learners (Choy, 2002; Maehl, 2004). Most these students were categorized as nontraditional learners due to being financially independent, having children or dependents, or delayed enrollment into college after high school (Choy, 2002). It is argued that enrollment numbers amongst nontraditional adult learners will continue to rise, with recent figures, suggesting that adult learners will eventually account for half of student enrollment amongst college and universities (Hussar & Bailey, 2009). Although it was projected that by the year 2010, there would be 6.8 million adult learners enrolled in college and universities, the actual enrollment numbers surpassed this projection (Gaibraith & Shedd, 1990; Hardin, 2008). Adult learners who are 25 to 34 years of age are anticipated to hold the highest enrollment increases when compared to traditional students enrolling in college (Hussar & Bailey, 2009).

Adult learners make the decision to return to the educational forefront for several reasons. Kohl (2010) hypothesized that adult learners are returning to the classroom to update certain skill sets to be more competitive in the recent economy, and/or to remain current with technological advances witnessed throughout recent years. Houle (1961) postulated that adults also participate in educational programs to engage and socialize with others or to be intellectually challenged. Houle (1961) postulated that adults participate in educational programs to engage and socialize with others or to be intellectually challenged. Acknowledging the issues adults consider when enrolling in educational programs would help institutions better understand the choices adults consider when committing to higher education (Stein, Wanstreet & Trinko, 2011). As institutions gain a better understanding of these issues, they are better equipped to develop policies and strategies to help adults enroll.

For nontraditional students, dropout decisions are based on a set of variables which include, academic, environmental and social interaction (Metzner & Bean, 1987). Countryman (2006) advised, in higher education, adult students have different needs than their traditional-age peers. By addressing these needs, adult students are reassured that they can be successful in their pursuit of higher education (Countryman, 2006). According to the National Center for Education Statistics [NCES] (2003), adult students whose needs are addressed by their institutions are more likely to continue their enrollment, achieve their academic goals, and become the institutions best supporters. However, a significant number of research universities display little interest in meeting the needs of undergraduates who desire to be part-time students, are full-time employees, and have experienced a break in schooling (Kasworm, 2010).

Hagedorn (2005) asserted adult learners typically face challenges while progressing through higher education. These challenges are due to institutional systems that are designed to

primarily accommodate the traditional student population (Hagedorn, 2005). As a result of changing student demographics, enrollment patterns, and societal needs for a well-educated workforce, research institutions' face critical challenges in modifying its mission and environment in support of the adult undergraduate (Kasworm, 2010). Traditional institutions must recognize that the undergraduate student population is aging, and in response to this trend, they must become receptive to adult student needs and expectations (Hagedorn, 2005).

Defining Adult Learners

Knowles (1978) described the adult learner through traits associated with the principles of learner centeredness. These traits entailed the following:

- The learner has full responsibility for his own learning.
- The subject matter has relevance and meaning for the learner.
- Involvement and participation are necessary for learning.
- The relationship between learners shows helping styles and learner self-responsibility.
- The teacher is a facilitator and resource person.
- The learner sees him/herself differently as a result of the learning experience.
- The learner experiences confluences.

Dill and Henley (1998) asserted adult learners are nontraditional students, who enter higher education after being away from high school for at least one year, and carry out multiple responsibilities while pursuing their academic endeavors. Some of the responsibilities adult learners generally manage while enrolled in school, include being a parent, employee, and spouse (Dill & Henley, 1998). Hirschorn (1988) described the adult learner as being twenty-four years of age older and returning to the learning environment after experiencing a break in their education. Markle (2015) defined the nontraditional learner as a student who displays one of the

following characteristics: enrolls in college after a five year departure from high school, 25 years of age or older, or carries out responsibilities associated with the role of a spouse or caretaker. According to Kinsella (1998), adult learners are typically married, employed, and carry out parental responsibilities in the home. Cross (1980) described the nontraditional student as one who engages in education either part-time or full-time, while simultaneously maintaining employment and family obligations.

Horn and Carroll (1996) characterized nontraditional students through criteria that relate to specific choices and behaviors that could increase student attrition in higher education. The three sets of criteria used to categorize the adult learner included: (1) enrollment patterns (2) financial and family status and (3) high school graduation status. According to Horn and Carroll (1996), adult learners are defined as students who possess any of the following characteristics:

- Delayed enrollment into postsecondary education one year or more after high school.
- Having a dependent, other than their spouse.
- Employed full-time while enrolled in school.
- Being financially independent from their parents.
- Did not earn a high school diploma, but obtained a certificate of completion.

Bull and Kimball (2000) proposed adult learners bring wide-ranging experiences into the classroom setting. Kasworm and Marienau (1997) suggested adults hold a rich tapestry of experience, generally obtained, through previous schooling, community engagement, and prior experiential learning opportunities. While the adult student community is comprised of a diverse set of students, varying in age and other demographics, many adult students share a commonality of self-directed learning. Researchers have argued adult learners are self-directed learners who are motivated to learn and committed to achieving their academic goals (Bull & Kimball, 2000;

Carlan, 2001; Knowles, 1978). Knowles (1980) asserted when individuals define themselves as adults, they develop a self-directing personality. This type of personality helps adults view themselves as being capable of managing their own lives and making their own decisions. However, while adults are typically self-directing in all aspects of their lives, when participating in educational activities, they often perceive their role as a learner as being a dependent and passive participant (Knowles, 1980).

Researchers have also described adult learners as being achievement oriented, highly motivated, and independent students; however, non-traditional students need flexible schedules and instruction appropriate for their developmental level (Benshoff & Lewis, 1992; Cross, 1980). Adult learners often appreciate active approaches to learning that connect academic learning with prior life experiences (Benshoff, 1991; Benshoff & Lewis, 1992). Knowles (1980) proposed four key assumptions which characterized the adult learner as one who (1) has an independent self-concept and seeks to direct his own learning (2) has gained a reservoir of experiences that provide a rich resource for learning (3) has learning needs closely related to changing social roles and 4) is performance-centered and interested in immediate application of knowledge.

Markle (2015) asserted, adult learners, may view their educational aspirations as selfish objectives. This perspective typically leads to feelings associated with guilt, when the student dedicates time toward school obligations; reducing the amount of time spent with their family (Markle, 2015). Giancola, Grawitch and Borchert (2009) suggested adult learners experience various levels of stress while balancing multiple responsibilities at home, school, and at their place of employment. Although, returning to school may be rewarding for adult learners; Butler (2007) argued this decision creates another role domain in one's life that competes with existing limited resources; such as, the student's overall finances, time and energy. Adult learners often

struggle to find an adequate balance between the demands of their personal life, education and work (Eastmond, 1998). Benshoff and Lewis (1992) indicated two of the most important concerns adult learners face when enrolling in school relate to their personal finances and family matters.

Adult learners are also characterized by their ability to successfully engage in self-directed learning. Knowles (1975) defined self-directed learning as "a process in which individuals take the initiative, with or without the help of others, in diagnosing their learning needs, formulating learning goals, identifying human and material resources for learning, choosing and implementing appropriate learning strategies, and evaluating learning outcomes" (p. 18). Knowles (1975) argued while some labels used in literature to describe self-directed learning may imply learning in isolation; self-directed learning generally occurs in a collaborative setting with teachers, mentors, peers and helpers. It is also argued that as individuals mature, they naturally develop a need for independence from their parents, as well as, their teachers (Knowles, 1975). Adults typically enter the learning environment as proactive learners who, in many cases, retains and utilizes what they have learned better than their reactive counterparts (Knowles, 1975).

Theoretical Frameworks

To properly address the needs of adult learners in higher education, it is appropriate to examine adult learning theories. One of the most well-known terms associated with the field of adult education is "andragogy" (Knowles, 1980). This term was first introduced to North America by Malcolm Knowles, also known as, the father of adult education, during the early 1970s (Merriam, 2001). Although the term was initially discussed by Alexander Kapp, in his discussion of Plato's education theory in 1833, it became widely popular in North America and

Britain through the work of Malcom Knowles (Smith, 1999). According to Knowles (1984), andragogy is defined as the art and science of guiding adults throughout the overall learning process. This theoretical framework also promotes the establishment of learning environments which include mutual respect between learner and facilitator, collaboration and support amongst peers. It is argued, adult learners do not learn in the same manner as children, and thus, require a different type of learning environment (Knowles, 1984).

Knowles (1984) suggested adult learners are able to identify and appreciate good teaching, and thrive in learning settings guided by educators who serve as facilitators versus lecturers. In addressing this need, educators are encouraged to incorporate self-evaluation exercises, simulations and even role playing opportunities into their curriculums as a learning aid for adult learners (Knowles, 1984). Adults' generally need to understand the importance of learning new information, and typically learn best when they can immediately apply new skills or knowledge into their daily lives (Knowles, 1984). Hardin (2008) asserted, in an effort to decrease barriers for adult learners, institutions should restructure the traditional roles of its faculty, by encouraging faculty to spend less time lecturing to their class, and more efforts toward serving as a facilitator of student learning.

Knowles (1970) defined andragogy as "the art and science of helping adults learn" (p. 37). Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (1998), described andragogy through six core principles: (1) the learner's need to know (2) the learner's self-concept (3) prior experience of the learner (4) the learner's readiness to learn (5) orientation to learning (6) motivation to learn. In addition to these six core principles; Knowles also asserted adult learning is influenced by other factors; to include, learner individual differences, situational differences, and purposes of learning. In satisfying the adult learner's need to know, educators are encouraged to partner with adults

throughout the learning process (Knowles et al., 1998). Knowles highlighted several dimensions of the first core principle; the learner's need to know: (1) the need to know how learning will be conducted, (2) what learning will occur, and (3) why the learning is important (Knowles et al., 1998).

Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (2005) discussed the first assumption of the andragogical model; suggesting before adults undertake learning something new, they first need to understand why they need to learn it. Tough (1971) asserted that a majority of adults find motivation to learn when confronted with an immediate problem, or task that requires specific knowledge and skills. According to Knowles (1967), adults generally engage in learning as a result of existing pressures they experience in their personal lives; thus, seeking immediate application of what they actually learn. This reason for participating in education also creates a problem-centered mindset for many adults entering learning activities (Knowles, 1967). Adults also participate in learning to adjust to changing technologies, processes, and societal values that may affect them in their personal lives, and even in their workplace (Tough, 1971). While Tough (1979) indicated adults will generally invest a significant amount of energy in examining the benefits of learning something on their own, and the possible consequences that exist as a result of not learning.

The second assumption of Knowles' theory is the self-concept of the learner; which associates with the overall autonomy and self-directedness of the learner. Self-directed learning relates to the learner's ability to lead their own learning experience (Knowles et al., 1998).

Davis (2015) suggested, through self-directed learning, adult learners experience a number of positive outcomes; which include, self-discipline, motivation, perseverance, goal oriented and enhanced self-confidence. Although education generally occurs within the realms of traditional educational institutions, learning also occurs in other forms. Davis (2015) noted that amongst the

traditional settings, such as, universities and vocational institutions, self-directed learning may occur outside of these environments. Knowles (1975) defined self-directed learning as the process in which a learner takes the initiative to analyze their own learning needs, develop goals, and learning resources.

Tough (1979) argued adults are not only capable of selecting what to learn, but they are also able to plan and manage their overall learning process. Ross-Gordon (2011) described the adult learner as being independent and self-directing during the learning process. In addition to being self-directed in their learning, adults typically enter the learning setting with diverse wideranging experiences. Adult learners' approach learning in a more task -centered manner; seeking specific information with a high level of internal motivation to learn (Ross-Gordon, 2011). Knowles (1968) proposed that humans become more independent, and illustrate a stronger desire to direct their own learning as they mature.

The third assumption of Knowles' theory related to the learner's prior experience. Knowles (1970) argued prior experiences equip adult learners with the best resources and tools for future learning opportunities. Curriculums that encompass experiential learning techniques will aid learners in utilizing their past experiences while engaging in group discussions and activities, problem-solving exercises, and simulation activities (Knowles, 1970). Knowles (1968) suggested youths and adults view and utilize their previous experiences quite differently; youth tend to form their self-identity heavily based upon external factors, such as their family, and what school and church they attend; whereas, having lived longer, adults have more experiences to draw upon when learning. According to Knowles (1968) "an adult will define himself in terms of his experience. His self-identify is derived from what he has done" (p. 352). While children

view experiences as things that happen to them, adults view experiences as who they are (Knowles et al., 2005).

Knowles' fourth assumption examined the learner's readiness to learn. According to Knowles et al. (2005), "Adults become ready to learn those things they need to know and be able to do in order to cope effectively with their real-life situations" (p. 67). This particular assumption is associated with an individual progressing from one developmental stage to the next in their life. Another implication associated with a learner's readiness to learn is the importance of accurately timing a learning experience to match his developmental stage in life (Knowles et al., 2005). As adult educators strengthen their overall understanding of, and ability to anticipate, adult learners' readiness to learn and situations occurring in their individual lives, the more effective they can be in facilitating learning (Knowles et al., 1998).

Knowles' fifth assumption highlighted orientation to learning. This assumption asserts adults are task-centered or problem-centered in their orientation to learning, in comparison to children who are generally subject-centered in their orientation to learning (Knowles et al., 2005). Adults have the tendency to learn new knowledge, skills, and values more effectively when they believe learning will help them handle real-life issues and support them in performing daily task in their personal and professional lives (Knowles et al., 2005). It is also suggested that as an individual matures and transitions from being a child to becoming an adult, their orientation toward learning also shifts from being subject-centered, to being problem-centered (Knowles et al., 1998).

The sixth assumption of Knowles' theory focused on the learner's motivation to learn.

According to Knowles (1990) adult learners are generally internally motivated by problem oriented learning that can be immediately applied to their personal lives. Knowles, Holton, and

Swanson (1998) asserted as adult learners mature, their time perspective shifts from delayed application of knowledge to immediacy of application. Merriam (2001) argued adults are motivated to engage in learning activities because of internal factors versus external influences. Knowles et al. (1998) also suggested adults typically value intrinsic rewards that lead to immediate personal payoffs.

Learning Theories

Over the years, learning has been defined in a diverse set of ways. This wide range of definitions illustrate the level of difficulty that exist in defining learning (Cronbach, 1963; Gagne, 1965; Rogers, 1969; Smith, 1982). Defining learning is complicated (Knowles et al, 2005). Boyd and Apps (1980) defined learning as the process by which knowledge, skills, attitudes and behavioral changes are accomplished. Knowles et al. (2005) asserted that learning closely relates to the individual experiencing or expected to experience change; while education emphasizes the educator presenting stimuli to induce change. Smith (1982) assumed that learning consists of (1) the mastery of what is already known, (2) the clarification of meaning of one's experience, and (3) the deliberate process of testing ideas significant to problems.

Cronbach (1963) defined learning as behavioral changes that occur as a result of experience. Similar to this definition of learning, Gagne (1965) suggested learning is defined as any change in human nature or ability that can be retained. Learning has also been referred to as a process where an activity is either developed or reformed in response to an encountered situation (Hilgard & Bower, 1966). Although multiple definitions have been offered regarding the meaning of learning; Haggard (1963) emphasized that although various definitions exist regarding learning; the commonality that exist amongst these definitions relate to a change in behavior as a result of experience.

While Knowles' theory of andragogy has been widely referenced and debated over the years, other adult learning theories have also contributed to the overall literature on learning theories. According to Hassan (2011), any effective learning setting has an appropriate balance between various approaches; for instance, there should be a balance between students' own exploration of new knowledge, and the teaching methods being utilized. Similar to Knowles' theory on adult learning, Kolb's experiential learning theory encourages educators to approach adult learners in a different manner than children (Kolb, 1984). Adult learners enter learning environments with a vast amount of life experiences, in comparison to their younger student colleagues. This level of experience naturally plays a central role in the overall learning process (Kolb, 1984); and could also influence the academic, social and environmental needs of adult learners.

Kolb (1984) defined learning as "the process whereby knowledge is created through the transformation of experience" (p. 38). Kolb's theory is represented by a learning cycle comprised of four stages which include: (1) concrete experience (2) observation and reflection of that experience (3) formation of abstract concepts (4) active experimentation (Kolb, 1984). It is also argued, individuals naturally favor different learning styles as a result of varying factors in their personal lives (Kolb, 1984). Some of these factors may include one's previous education experiences, intellectual abilities, or current social environment. According to Beard (2007), experiential learning plans could yield many positive outcomes; to include: improving potential career opportunities for students, and improve students' overall social abilities and human relation skill sets in the workplace.

In addition to experiential learning, humanistic learning theory stresses freedom, creativity, choice, and self-realization as important characteristics of meaningful learning

(Rodriquez, 2016). According to Rogers (1959), humans' sole purpose is to self-actualize; to reach one's maximum potential and accomplish his highest level of "human-beingness". Rogers (1969) encouraged educators to carry out their learning objectives as facilitator of learning; encouraging their students to become self-directed in their learning. In carrying out the role of facilitator, educators were also expected to have three attitudinal qualities: (1) realness or genuineness (2) non-possessive caring, prizing, trust and respect (3) empathic understanding and sensitive, and accurate listening (Rogers, 1969).

Rogers (1969) asserted that in order for learning to take place, competency based development must occur. He also suggested that learning included self-initiation, personal involvement and an evaluation by the actual learner. Gagne (1965) highlighted five domains that must be present for learning to take place. Those domains include: (1) verbal information (2) motor skills (3) intellectual skills (4) cognitive strategies and (5) attitude. It is also argued that all five domains are critical to the overall learning process in any educational environment (Gagne, 1965). Although Gagne (1965) highlighted the previous five domains as important learning; Knowles (1975) asserted we are more knowledgeable about how animals learn than we are about how children learn. Unfortunately, we are even less knowledgeable about how adults learn in comparison to what we have learned about the way children learn (Knowles, 1975).

Behaviorism originates from the idea that learning is accomplished through the control of one's environment; any behavioral changes are a result of reinforcement, either positive of negative, which enhances the probability of the behavior occurring again (Skinner, 1979).

According to Hassan (2011) change in one's behavior is a direct result of an event, or stimuli that exist in the environment. It is also argued that an individual's personal desires and aspirations are structured by external influences (Hassan, 2011). Skinner (1968) described reinforcement as

creating circumstances that a person enjoys or eliminating conditions the he does not approve. Whereas, punishment was defined as discarding situations an individual likes, or establishing an atmosphere that one does not appreciate (Skinner, 1968).

According to Watson (1912), as humans' progress through life, they experience behavioral changes in a continuous fashion, rather than in distinct stages, as a result of their response to environmental influences. It is also argued that behavior is both measurable and observable, and one's environment is the primary determinant of one's behavior (Watson, 1912). In gaining a better understanding of development, Watson (1912) encouraged the society to observe stimuli that exist throughout the environment. Evans and Rilling (2000) argued Watson was clear in his demonstration of how behaviorism symbolized a shift in the importance of the topic in psychological research. Watson's theory represented a shift in how topics in psychology are selected for research; transitioning from sensation and perception studies, to topics related to learning and habit formation (Evans & Rilling, 2000).

Knowles, Holton and Swanson (2005) asserted that although John B. Watson is often known as the father of behaviorism, the initial investigation on learning was carried out by Edward L. Thorndike. According to Thorndike, learners who were inexperienced had the tendency to respond to stimuli in a random and automatic fashion (Knowles, et al. 2005). Thorndike introduced the following three laws that he believed oversaw the learning of both humans and animals (1) the law of readiness (2) the law of exercise and (3) the law of effect (Knowles, et al., 2005): Thorndike (1913) suggested that the consequence of a response will impact whether the tendency to respond the same way will be strengthened or weakened.

Vygotsky's sociocultural theory played a critical role in the development of the constructivist movement (Jaramillo, 1996). Vygotsky (1998) postulated that all cultural and

historical artifacts are integral parts of any environment; any interaction with those artifacts, which include various physical, cultural and intellectual tools, will assist one in understanding reality and their surroundings. Vygotsky's zone of proximal development described the difference between what a person can accomplish on their own, and what he can accomplish with the assistance of others. Jaramillo (1996) asserted that according to Vygotsky, through social negotiation and engagement, peers arrive at a common understanding through the use of problem-solving activities. In the classroom setting, social interaction stimulates diverse perceptions amongst peers, and assist students in developing interdependence by holding each other accountable (Jaramillo, 1996).

Tough (1979) hypothesized that adult learners prefer self-directed learning opportunities, and are willing to dedicate the necessary amount of time and energy required to learn on their own. Tough also suggested that as adults mature, they naturally become more self-directed in their pursuit of education (Knowles et al, 1998). Tough (1971) added the research on self-directed learning through his study of 66 adult students in Canada. Through his study, Tough discovered participants structured their learning around projects, and expected some form of value or incentive after successful completion of the projects (Tough, 1971). Tough proposed the following objectives of self-directed learning: (1) enhance the ability of adult learners to be independent in their learning, (2) foster transformational learning as central to self-directed learning, and (3) promote emancipator learning and social action as an integral part of self-directed learning (Merriam, Caffarella, & Baumgartner, 2007).

Houle (1961) examined reasons adults' value education and seek to participate in learning opportunities. Through his publication of *The Inquiring Mind*, his investigation postulated there are three types of learners: (1) goal-oriented, (2) activity-oriented, and (3)

learning-oriented. Goal-oriented learners utilize education for accomplishing clear-cut objectives. Knowles, Holton and Swanson (1998) asserted that for many goal-oriented learners, their experience in continuing education did not begin until mid-twenties and after. Activity-oriented learners pursued learning opportunities for social interaction with no essential connection to the learning content; whereas, learning-oriented learners sought knowledge just to have the information; learning for the sake of learning (Houle, 1961).

Adult Learner Needs in Higher Education

Traditional colleges and universities are no longer viewed as institutions designed solely to address the needs of 18 to 24 year old students (Carlan, 2001). As increasing numbers of adults enroll in colleges and universities to strengthen basic skill sets, gain knowledge for new careers, or simply gain new information (Osgood-Treston, 2001); educators hold the responsibility for understanding adult learners' perceived needs. According to Keintz (2004) understanding these assumptions that exist amongst the adult student community may enhance awareness of key factors which influence an adult to learn. Although colleges and universities are experiencing increasing numbers of nontraditional adult learners, in both face-to-face, and online courses; only a limited number of campuses have developed specific divisions to work solely with nontraditional adult students (Hardin 2008). Boone, Safrit and Jones (2002) asserted that if learners' perceive no connection exists between their immediate needs and a program's potential outcome, they may lack motivation to participate in the educational program.

Wiltshire (1973) suggested the concept of understanding learner needs is one of the most prominent concepts in the field of adult education. Ayers (2011) hypothesized learners are less likely to voluntarily participate in any educational program, if it is perceived the program will not address an existing need. It is also argued that educational programs are also at risk of failing if they lack the ability to meet individual needs on a local scale (Ayers, 2011). The National

Center for Education Statistics (2003) estimated that over 60 percent of college students embody characteristics of nontraditional learners; placing them at greater risk of stopping out and not completing their programs of study. In comparison to their traditional counterparts, adult learners are more likely to leave their postsecondary institutions within their first year of enrollment (Hardin, 2008).

Bull and Kimball (2000) proposed adult learners differ from 18 to 22 year old learners in terms of their perceived needs, objectives and desires. Benshoff (1991) offered a similar observation; stating the developmental needs, stressors and overall issues experienced by adult learners differ significantly from those encountered by traditional students. To properly address the adult learner population, colleges and universities are urged to re-examine all aspects of the college environment (Benshoff, 1991). Addressing key issues experienced by adult learners is critical to the planning and execution of any college programs. Higher education institutions are encouraged to consider the needs of the nontraditional students pursuing programs on their respective campuses (Benshoff, 1991; Boone, 1985; Carlan, 2001).

Hearn (1992) described the nontraditional adult learner by categorizing them into three categories: (1) students who re-enter college after being away for several years (2) as older or mature students (3) students who attend college part-time. A significant number of adult learners pursue higher education by cycling in and out semesters. While some adults may drop out of their college for an extended period, others may completely withdraw from school and eventually re-enroll at a later time (Kerka, 1998). Nelken (2009) indicated that although the adult student population is growing at a faster rate than the traditional student community; a majority of colleges and universities direct more resources toward addressing the needs of the traditional student. While other nations have witnessed significant increases in the number of adults

obtaining college degrees, the United States have remained relatively stagnant in degree attainment rates, especially amongst the adult learner population (Gast, 2013).

While recruiting students to college may be a simple task, helping them persist until they have reached program completion is the challenge for many institutions (Johnson, 2005). This trend has resulted in the development of various theoretical frameworks in an effort to better understand the variables impacting adult student persistence and motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Although student attrition is a critical issue for many institutions, and has been researched over the last few years; student persistence remains an unresolved problem for a significant number of colleges and universities. Tinto (2006) suggested as the landscape in higher education shifted and resources began to diminish, institutions became increasingly focused on improving student persistence and graduation rates across colleges and universities. While some universities have made improvements to available resources, and others have witnessed higher graduation rates, the national rate of student persistence has seen minimal growth over the past decade (Tinto, 2006).

According to Tinto (2006), when student retention was initially investigated in higher education, educators generally examined retention rates through the lens of psychology, and more specifically, as a direct reflection of motivational levels and personality traits that exist amongst its overall student body. For example, students who postponed completion of their academic endeavors were characterized as being less motivated, not determined, and less willing than their counterparts who could progress through their programs until completion (Tinto, 2006). Whereas, Darkenwald and Merriam (1982) asserted various external elements exist outside of the educational setting that often create barriers for adults enrolled in on campus

courses and distance learning education. These factors can include financial problems, support systems and scheduling constraints (Darkenwald and Merriam, 1982).

Academic Needs

As colleges and universities seek to increase nontraditional student enrollment, and strengthen student persistence rates amongst this student demographic, it is important to examine academic, social and environmental needs as perceived by both students and faculty. Gast (2013), encouraged public research universities to assess all support services, to confirm whether the available resources are effective in addressing the needs of adult learners enrolled at their respective institutions. Adult students are generally busy during the normal business hours and may not be able to seek the necessary assistance from their institutions; thus, universities should tailor services to meet the needs of adult learners through in-person interactions, as well as, online to better retain students until graduation (Gast, 2013).

Adult learners generally approach higher education as mature students who are eager to learn; however, they often return to the classroom after an extended absence from a formal academic setting (Von Lehman, 2011). This time away from the academic environment can create a sense of uncertainty for adults regarding their ability to handle college-level coursework. Hardin (2008) asserted that students who have not utilized certain academic skills within a few years after their secondary education credential typically need additional guidance, support and practice. When compared to the traditional college student, adult learners are less likely to seek assistance from their institutions, even when they need it most; fearing they will appear unprepared and unintelligent (Von Lehman, 2011). This lack of confidence can create academic barriers for students; reducing their chances of persisting in their respective programs.

It is also argued that in helping the adult learner overcome academic issues and limitations, institutions should ensure sufficient academic advisement is available for its students (Hardin, 2008). Academic advisors should be well versed on needs and challenges specific to the adult student community. This understanding will better equip advisors in their quest to assist students in developing realistic and obtainable educational goals (Hardin, 2008). The communication between advisor and student should not be transactional in nature; occurring in the beginning and at the end of a student's program. The Council of Adult and Experiential Learning (2000) postulated that advisors should remain in continuous communication with their nontraditional students, throughout their programs, to assist in the review, discussion, and modification of their individual educational objectives.

Light (2001) suggested one principal element in developing a great college experience for adult learners directly relates to human relationships. Advisors are encouraged to develop a partnership with students that transcend basic course scheduling, and moves toward a plan that promotes personal growth and development (Bland, 2003; Light, 2001). The shift from prescriptive advising to developmental advising, is a holistic approach to properly guiding students through their programs (Bland, 2003). This type of holistic advisement is considered an institutional lifeline, granting students the opportunity to successfully plan and prepare for a rewarding career regardless of their age (Polson, 1994). In comparison to prescriptive advising techniques, developmental advising fosters a bond between the student and advisor, which yields academic success, as well as, positive retention trends and graduation rates amongst adult learners (Bland, 2003).

Tinto (1997) defined the college classroom as the nucleus of all educational activities occurring within institutions of higher learning. For nontraditional students, especially those who

commute to college, the classroom is generally the sole environment where they can engage with fellow students and faculty (Tinto, 1997). For this student population, the classroom will serve as the intersection where academic and social integration will meet. While previous research highlight the importance of the classroom (Bean & Metzner, 1985; Kasworm, 2003; Hagedorn, 2005) and may even depict how it shapes academic integration; there is still a need to explore how the classroom experience influences student persistence (Tinto, 1997).

Per Metzner and Bean (1987), academic variables include study skills, academic advising, study hours, absenteeism, academic degree programs, and availability of course offerings. Countryman (2006) noted additional academic factors include tutoring, developmental courses, faculty accessibility, remediation, and instructional delivery methods. According to Bean and Metzner (1985), academic variables have a direct impact on attrition and students' academic performance. These variables are strong indicators of how adult learners interact with the institution (Bean & Metzner, 1985).

Bean and Metzner (1985) defined the nontraditional student as one who is older than 24 years of age, does not live on campus, and who is enrolled as a part-time student. The adult learner is also described as a student primarily concerned with the academic offerings of the institution, such as, courses, degree programs and certifications (Bean & Metzner, 1985).

According to Metzner and Bean (1987), academic variable are indicative of the internal collegiate environment. While Ast (1999) asserted the academic needs of adult learners are different from upwardly mobile four-year graduates; therefore, addressing these needs are critical to the adult learners overall educational college experience.

Adult students tend to enroll in institutions that are readily accessible, cost-effective, relevant to their current needs, supportive of adult lifestyle commitments, and flexible in course

offerings (Kasworm, 2003). Hagedorn (2005) suggested institutions can become more receptive to the academic needs of adult students by developing courses that encompass exactly what they want and need to learn. Institutions can also become more adult-centered by offering flexible learning opportunities. This flexibility can include, offering distance learning courses, allowing students to enroll part-time and permitting students to complete their course requirements at their own pace (Hagedorn, 2005). Per Clark (2006), to address academic needs of adult learners, institutions should incorporate evening courses each semester. Offering courses at variety times during the day allows adult students the opportunity to continue enrollment, while managing their daily lives. Institutions are also encouraged to provide extended office hours on campus; allowing the nontraditional student the opportunity to access student resources and experience adequate support services (Clark, 2006).

Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (2005) suggested adult learners prefer learning environments that are guided by flexibility and collaboration between student and instructor.

According to Boone (1985), adult learners enter the learning environment seeking a self-directed learning experience. Conlan, Grabowski, and Smith (2003) also argued adult learners enter the learning environment with an independent self-concept and are able to direct their own learning. Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (1998) discussed adult learners' interest in sharing their previous life experiences in the academic environment. Whereas; Conlan, Grabowski, and Smith (2003) advised previous life experiences provide the basis for adult's learning activities.

Adult learners generally seek learning environments that allow students to move through the learning process in a self-directed fashion. Rodriquez (2016) argued, many adults equate the meaning of education with ideas of an environment that has transitioned from a teacher-centered culture, to a setting that is more student oriented. Jonassen (2000) argued to provide an effective

student-centered environment, educators must direct their attention on three particular areas: problem context (the social framework in which the problem interacts), problem simulation (the problem must engage the learner), and problem manipulation space (the learner must be able to critically interact with and affect the problem). Watters (2003) hypothesized some of the issues that negatively impact nontraditional student retention include the time in which classes are offered (day or evening) and the student's perception of the overall quality of education provided at an institution.

Allen (1993) suggested the adult learner, when compared to the traditional student, generally places more value on course material and assignments that relate to his life; both personally and professionally. Nontraditional students appreciate learning experiences that practical in nature and can be applied to their individual lives with ease. For most adult learners, attending school is a constant act of managing academic requirements, while simultaneously maintaining their personal and professional schedules (Allen, 1993). This act of balancing various responsibilities, may be quite hectic; thus, adult learners generally expect detailed instructions and timely feedback throughout the overall learning experience (Allen, 1993).

More colleges and universities are recognizing the significant size of their adult student population, and understanding how adult learners experience unique challenges, and hold a different set of needs, in comparison to the traditional student (Klein-Collins, 2011). According to the National Center of Education Statistics (NCES), enrollment of students age 25 and over attending degree-granting institutions are growing at a faster rate compared to the traditional 18 to 24-year-old student (NCES, 2003). Although a shift in college demographics has occurred, most colleges and universities continue to focus primarily on the traditional student population,

rather than redirecting its resources and attention toward addressing the needs of the nontraditional adult student (Nelken, 2009)

Social needs

Wyatt (2011) hypothesized that while adult learners are less likely to participate in extracurricular activities, when compared to their traditional colleagues, they are more prone to engage in a student organizations and functions if they are dedicated to the adult student community. Tinto (1993) suggested that a student's persistence at a college or university is closely related to his overall commitment to the institution; and student commitment is heavily impacted by the student's social integration into the campus environment. The higher a student's level of integration, both social and academic, the stronger commitment he has with the institution and the goal of graduation (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1983). It is argued that although research is conducted on student persistence in higher education, most research focuses on the persistence of traditional college students, while excluding the nontraditional learner (Donaldson & Graham, 1999).

Metzner and Bean (1987) proposed social integration variables include memberships in campus organizations, faculty contact and school friends. Countryman (2006) indicated additional social needs, including, social engagement, the ability to partake in community service, and training for serving one's community. Astin's student involvement theory defined involvement as the amount of physical and psychological energy a student devotes to the overall academic experience (Astin, 1984). Per Astin's theory; the more involved a student becomes in college, the higher the student's overall learning and personal development will become (Astin, 1984). This theory hypothesized that a more involved college student is more likely to persist in their academic endeavors until graduation at a higher rate than a student who is less involved.

Students who are highly involved on the campus generally dedicates a significant amount of time toward their studies, are more probable to actively partake in various student groups and campus organizations, and regularly interacts with their classmates and faculty (Astin, 1999). In 1993, Astin examined student outcomes and how they were impacted by college environments. This longitudinal study included a national sample of over 200 four-year institutions and approximately 25,000 students who enrolled in those colleges and universities between 1985 and 1989. Astin's findings, hypothesized peer groups are the most powerful influence on undergraduate student development, both academically and personally (Astin, 1993).

Astin (1993) also postulated that social interaction amongst student peers have extensive effects on nearly all areas of student learning and development. In this study, every aspect of the student's development was impacted by the characteristics of the peer group. Astin (1993) suggested that students have the tendency to adjust their values, behaviors and even their academic plans to align with the orientation of their peer group. Interactions amongst student peers included active participation in sororities or fraternities, engaging in intramural sports, socializing with other students in various campus organizations, and working in groups for completing class projects (Astin, 1993). Through the utilization of teamwork, group projects, discussion, and cooperative learning experiences; adult learners can connect with each other and become more socially integrated in their learning environments (Burden & Byrd, 2007).

According to Wyatt (2011), nontraditional students are typically vulnerable to the collegiate setting; however, positive interactions with faculty and staff generally result in a successful transition into college life for the adult learner. Andom (2007) suggested many adult learners make the decision to leave college after perceiving their professors as holding a negative attitude toward nontraditional adult students on campus. Medved and Heisler (2002) postulated

that for colleges and universities, social interactions between faculty and student establishes the social order and the overall culture that exists within the institution. In 1993, Astin asserted that interactions between student and faculty in higher education correlated with self-reported intellectual and personal growth.

Tinto (2000) argued that while the classroom serves as the most common experience shared amongst college students, this experience is rarely included in studies related to student retention and departure in higher education. College classrooms also serve as academic and social spaces that connect faculty and students across campus; and provides a direct link to other communities external to the classroom environment (Tinto, 2000). It is argued that if students, particularly commuters, fail to engage in the classroom, they are less likely to become involved in other social communities within the college (Tinto, 2000). According to Pascarella and Terenzini (1983) the overall interaction between faculty and student serves as a significant influence on student integration within higher education; impacting overall student persistence.

Reason, Terenzini and Domingo (2007) assumed faculty and student interactions enhanced social and personal competence amongst students, while improving cognitive skills, and the integration of knowledge throughout the learning process. McGlynn (2008) hypothesized that faculty-student engagement has positive effects on grades and persistence for students; even after controlling for pre-college variables, such as race or ethnicity. Hagedorn, Perrakis and Maxwell (2002) characterized successful college students as those who obtained individualized attention from their faculty. Because of this experience, students expressed greater levels of satisfaction with their overall college experience (Reason, Terenzini, & Domingo, 2007). According to Kinzie and Kuh (2004), student engagement was a key component to academic success and influenced who persisted in college and who departed.

Astin (1984) assumed students who interact regularly with faculty are more probable to express satisfaction with all facets of their collegiate experience than other students. These facets include friendships with fellow students, variety of course offerings, administration at the institution, as well as, the overall intellectual environment (Astin, 1984). Wyatt (2011) recommended to facilitate student engagement amongst adult learners, institutions should embrace a diverse set of approaches, including (1) staff members who are understanding and willing to treat nontraditional students with respect, (2) faculty that is experienced in teaching nontraditional students, (3) communication that is appropriate for nontraditional learners, (4) offering programs and services that are appealing to the adult learner on campus.

Tinto (1989) proposed that research in higher education has remained constant in demonstrating how faculty interactions with students have influenced student persistence toward degree completion. Whereas; Graham and Donaldson (1999) proposed that interactions between faculty and student significantly correlated with self-reported increases in the areas of personal and intellectual growth. It is argued that students who frequently engages with faculty tend to report high levels of satisfaction with their college experience (Donaldson, Graham, Kasworm, & Dirkx, 1999). As adult learners become more socially integrated at their institution they simultaneously improve their chances of persisting in the respective programs. In addition, Astin (1999) believed frequent social interactions with faculty and other students at the institution, is more closely linked to student satisfaction levels than any other form of involvement on campus. Nontraditional students who engage in frequent interactions with their faculty and peers generally express greater satisfaction with their overall education experience (Astin, 1999).

Astin (1996) discussed recommendations that involved (1) greater use of learning communities, (2) utilization of learning technologies supporting student-faculty interaction, (3)

greater use of active teaching methods, (4) and improved academic counseling. Astin (1996) also argued that although universities are social institutions, dedicated to addressing the needs of society, and most college mission statements highlight outcomes such as social responsibility and citizenship, academics typically limit their conception of student outcomes to cognitive results such as knowledge and critical thinking. While there is extensive evidence of the benefits of involvement and the value of student-student and faculty-student interactions for traditional-age students, it is often challenging to involve the adult student in the campus environment because of their conflicting life roles (Donaldson, 1999).

Because adult learners generally manage multiple roles, while pursuing their academic endeavors, many find it rather difficult to become involved at their institutions, and forming connections with faculty and peers. Although student success in higher education is closely connected to the opportunities shared with peers; many adult learners are easily isolated from various academic communities at their institution (Nordstrom, 1997). To combat this trend of adult student isolation; college administrators are encouraged to help nontraditional students successfully integrate into their institutions. Vella (2002) hypothesized that effective adult learning environments should include some the following characteristics: (1) sense of security, (2) respect for students as decision-makers, (3) culture of teamwork, (4) relationship building, as well as, (5) learner engagement. Assisting students in becoming socially integrated in the higher education environment, prepares these students to overcoming the feeling of isolation; thus, allowing them to be successful throughout their academic experience (Hardin, 2008).

Previous studies have offered evidence that adult learners are less engaged in extracurricular activities on campus, due to work obligations, lack of time, family responsibilities and money (Cupp, 1991; Donaldson & Graham, 1999; Kuh, 1993; Quinnan, 1997). Donaldson,

Graham, Kasworm, and Dirkx (1999) characterized adult learners as commuters, evening or weekend attendees, and part-time enrollees who have limited to no involvement in on-campus activities. Therefore, adult students are less likely to become involved on campus or spend a significant amount of time outside of the academic classroom while on campus (Donaldson, et al., 1999).

Environmental Needs

While adult learners may spend a considerable amount of time in the college environment during the pursuit of academic endeavors; they devote a significant amount of time in their external environment (Metzner & Bean, 1987). Since the external environment contains multiple factors that could pose as barriers to learning, it is important to explore the environmental needs of the nontraditional student. Clark (2006) articulated that nontraditional commuter students at both residential and nonresidential institutions possess a diverse set of nonacademic needs that shape their educational experience at a greater extent than other students. Most research on student persistence focused on the traditional student demographic and the academic and social interaction that occurs within the campus setting. As adult student enrollment continues to increase while traditional student enrollment declines across colleges and universities; it is imperative that research directs its attention on the characteristics of nontraditional students and the external variables that prevent integration (Rosier, 2016).

Although student engagement varies across institutions, adult learners generally experience lower levels of social integrations regardless of the type of institution they attend. Chapman and Pascarella (1983) assumed this lack of social integrations occurs in response to the lack of time adult learners can dedicate toward social activities on campus, coupled with the

presence of external commitments; including career requirements, family commitments, as well as, financial obligations.

Bean and Metzner (1985) suggested environmental variables are more important to nontraditional students than academic variables. Although nontraditional students interact with their institution, they also spend a substantial amount of time in the external environment (Bean & Metzner, 1987). According to Countryman (2006), the external environment is comprised of unique factors that can be challenging for many adult learners. In addressing these challenges, it is critical to define the environmental needs of this student group (Countryman, 2006). Metzner and Bean (1987) proposed environmental variables include finances, hours of employment, outside encouragement, family responsibilities, and opportunity to transfer. Countryman (2006) suggested additional environmental factors that are important to adult students include library services, location of the college, career services, student health services, and transportation.

For many adult students, participation in higher education is only one of many activities in which they are involved (Fairchild, 2003). For instance, while adult learners pursue their academic goals, they often carry out responsibilities of being full-time employees, parents, caregivers, leaders in their community, and volunteers (Fairchild, 2003). According to Fairchild (2003), once adults enter higher education, they face various threats to their academic success due to multiple role demands and institutional barriers. Carney-Crompton and Tan (2002) assumed increased roles, demands, and time conflicts are linked to elevated levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. However, greater emotional support and instrumental support may decrease the negative psychological impact of increased roles, demands and time restraints (Carney-Crompton & Tan, 2002).

Finances play an important role in the ability of adults to complete their educational goals (Fairchild, 2003). Some leaders in higher education have suggested adult learners are limited in their need for financial assistance to attend college; however, a significant number of adults find that securing financial resources to attend college is a constant barrier to participation (Kasworm, 2003). Presently, there is federal student financial aid program designed explicitly for adult learners seeking a baccalaureate or post-baccalaureate program (Hatfield, 2003). Adult learners often agree that financial aid is confusing and is a major obstacle to the application and enrollment process (Ritt, 2008). Klein-Collins (2011) assumed one of the most substantial barriers for adult learners in postsecondary education is the financial cost associated with higher education. To aid students in overcoming this financial barrier, colleges and universities should strive to consistently inform adult learners of financial aid options or available payment plans. Institutions should clearly differentiate financial aid resources that are reserved for full-time students, and which options are available for students enrolled part-time (Klein-Collins, 2011).

In addition to carrying out work-related responsibilities, adult learners are also challenged with caring for their dependents, parents, and managing household tasks. It is critical colleges and universities understand such challenges, and develop systems to support the adult learner in being successful despite the many challenges they face while enrolling in educational programs. Adult learners may develop feelings of alienation within their learning environment, and resources related to financial advising, orientation, and advising may be necessary in helping the student navigate toward their academic goals (Klein-Collins, 2011). Wlodkowski, Mauldin and Campbell (2002) postulated that work conflicts, responsibilities at home, and difficulties in paying tuition costs are amongst most common reasons adult students fail to persist in post-secondary education.

Carney-Crompton and Tan (2002) claimed adult students' persistence in higher education is influenced by the student's household income, number of dependents in the household, and the financial aid received by the student. Fairchild (2003) argued that although some variables can be negotiated, one's income level cannot; stating the basic needs of the family take precedence over academic expenditures. Along with tuition rates and institutional fees, parents of young children may inquire childcare expenses while in class and at work (Fairchild, 2003). Carney-Crompton and Tan (2002) advised adult students with older children have a stronger chance to persist to graduation; whereas, those with younger children are more likely to interrupt their education.

According to Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (1998) the classroom setting is essential in assisting adult learners in their pursuit of academic success. Adults often learn best in environments that are informal, flexible, comfortable and non-threatening (Knowles, Holton, & Swanson, 1998). Ross-Gordon (2003) asserted adult students are often immersed in multiple external cultures and have restricted time to engage in student activities on campus. As a result of this characteristic, the classroom typically serves as the center of an adult learner's academic experience. Faculty is urged to maximize any opportunity to strengthen relationships with their students through instructional activities that occur during the student's time on campus (Ross-Gordon, 2003).

Chapter Summary

As more adult learners enroll in colleges and universities, understanding the perceived academic, social and environmental needs of nontraditional students assumes greater importance for post-secondary institutions. While adult learners enter higher education at a significant rate, many of these students do no reach program completion and leave the collegiate setting within

the first year of enrollment. Despite existing research in the areas of college student retention, and the needs of nontraditional adult students, Tinto (2006) argued these areas are yet to be fully explored. Hardin (2008) suggested an inadequate number of universities have developed specific divisions that are solely devoted to working with adult students. In response to this hypothesis, post-secondary institutions are encouraged to embrace a proactive approach to better understanding the needs of adult learners on their respective campuses. Literature suggest greater knowledge of academic, social and environmental factors impacting adult learners may lead to policies and resources which support better learning environments for nontraditional students.

CHAPTER III: METHODS

Introduction

While significant changes have occurred across higher education, where increasing numbers of adult learners are pursuing post-secondary education; institutions have struggled to effectively serve a more diverse student population that includes adult learners (Flint, 2000). If colleges and universities recognize the special characteristics of adult learners, they will be better equipped to properly respond to the special needs of this growing population (Benshoff, 1991; Flint, 2000). While colleges and universities may serve a larger number of nontraditional adult learners, there remains a gap between the needs of adult learners, and the ability to provide adequate resources and support services (Hardin, 2008). An institution's ability to adapt programs and services to meet the needs of non-traditional students will directly influence its success in attracting, and retaining adult students (Benshoff, 1991; Schuetze, 2002).

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, in order to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. Observing these specific needs, through the perceptions of both adult learners and faculty, is essential to providing better support services, and an overall more conductive learning experience for nontraditional students. This study explored the relationships between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at four-year universities.

This study had three primary objectives: (1) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting; (2) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting; (3) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used in this study:

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

Significance of the Study

This study is significant because it determined whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting. This study is

also significant because it confirmed if a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting. In addition, the study is significant because it established whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting. Currently, there is a lack of investigation into the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners attending four-year institutions.

This study focused on the relationship of the stated academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners to the perceptions of those needs by faculty members. Few studies were found that addressed specific needs of adult learners at a traditional four-year university. By addressing the relationship of adult learners and faculty perceptions, universities can better serve this specific population. The information obtained from this study can assist universities in better understanding the needs of adult learners. University faculty and administrators will find this information useful in developing appropriate learning environments for adult learners at their respective institutions. This study adds to the existing body of knowledge regarding the perceived needs of adult learners on university campuses, as perceived by, adult learners and faculty at four-year institutions.

Design of the Study

This study used quantitative measures in its design by using the survey method. The survey, with a convenience sample of adult learners and faculty members was used to measure responses for each of the research questions. The academic, social and environmental variables were obtained from the Adult Learner Needs Survey which was primarily based on

Countryman's (2006) Adult Learner Needs Survey. A 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA was utilized to answer each research question related to the relationships of adult learners' stated academic, social, and environmental needs to faculty perceptions of those needs. The SPSS statistical analysis program was used to analyze participant data gathered through this research study.

Protection of Human Participants

The purpose and procedures for this research study were thoroughly detailed through written directives and responses (see Appendix A). The research protocol, information letter, and survey instrument were carefully reviewed and approved by the researcher's dissertation committee, Auburn University's Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research (IRB), and Troy University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) (see Appendices B and C). Research study participants were provided an information letter (see Appendix A) which served as the Waiver of Documentation of Consent. The information letters invited participation in the study, highlighted results would be anonymous, and confirmed the purpose of participating in the study.

Sample Selection

An informational letter was sent to the assistant dean of instruction of Troy University, Phenix City campus that described the study's purpose and to gain permission to conduct the study during Spring 2015 semester. The assistant dean of instruction reviewed all letters and instruments prior to granting permission to conduct the study. The investigator obtained the approval from the dean of instruction and confirmed approval through email correspondence (see Appendix B). The sample in this research study included a convenience sample of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at Troy University, Phenix City campus during Spring 2015 semester.

Troy University was established by an Act of the Alabama Legislature on February 26, 1887 as Troy State Normal School as an institution to train teachers for Alabama's schools. This university is located in Troy, Alabama, and is a member of the Alabama State University System. Troy University has multiple campuses throughout the State of Alabama. Its main campus enrollment is approximately 7,900 students, and the total student enrollment across all campuses of over 18,000. Troy University is regionally accredited by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools Commission on Colleges to award associate, baccalaureate, masters, education specialist, and doctoral degrees.

Troy University's Phenix City campus located in Phenix City, Alabama was established to address the higher education needs of nontraditional students who reside within the Chattahoochee Valley region; to include counties located in Alabama and Georgia. The Chattahoochee Valley area is comprised of Phenix City, Alabama, Fort Benning, Georgia and Columbus, Georgia. Troy University's Phenix City campus offers a total of 12 undergraduate degree programs and 11 graduate degree programs; enrolling approximately 2,000 students a semester and employs approximately 42 full-time faculty and approximately 60 part-time faculty. A total of 100 faculty members and 200 adult learners were invited to participate in the study.

The sample for this study consisted of 136 adult learners that were 19 years old and over enrolled in an undergraduate degree program and 74 faculty members. The participant sample was selected from Troy University's Phenix City campus, located in Phenix City, Alabama. The sample for this study consisted of two groups: adult learners and faculty members. From these two groups, sub-groups existed. The adult learner participants consisted of 119 full-time and 17 part-time adult learners. The faculty participants consisted of 39 full-time and 35 part-time

faculty members at the Troy University Phenix City campus. To increase heterogeneity within the sample, participants were recruited from a variety of undergraduate courses, taught within various colleges/divisions on campus. The response rate amongst participants were: 74% percent amongst faculty and 68 % amongst adult learners.

These courses were based on availability during Spring 2015 semester. Students enrolled in the following classes were invited to participate in the study:

- ACT 3394 (Governmental Accounting)
- ART 3361 (Integrating Art into the Curriculum)
- BUS 3382 (Business Communications)
- CJ 3302 (Criminal Justice Administration)
- CJ 3352 (Constitutional Law in Criminal Justice)
- EDU 3310 (The Professional Educator)
- HS 2240 (Ethics)
- HS 3370 (Professional Communication Skills)
- IS 4447 (System Analysis & Design)
- MUS 3361 (Integrating Music into the Curriculum)
- PSY 3310 (Sensation & Perception)
- PSY 3332 (Family Violence)
- RHB 2281 (Rehabilitation Research II)
- ELE 3360 (Teaching Natural Science K-6)
- SWK 2281 (Social Work Research II)
- SWK 3302 (Social Services Resources)
- TROY 1101 (University Orientation)

The above courses were located within the following colleges at Troy University:

- College of Arts and Science
- College of Business
- College of Education
- College of Health and Human Services

Data Collection Procedures

Upon receiving approval from Auburn University's Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects in Research (IRB), and Troy University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) (see Appendices B and C), a meeting was scheduled with the dean of instruction at Troy University's Phenix City campus to discuss the purpose of the study, and procedures for distributing and collecting data. At this meeting, the researcher reviewed expectations of the dean of instruction regarding the study. The researcher provided the dean of instruction with the instructional letters, scripts, surveys and explained the proper procedures for distributing and collecting surveys (see Appendices D, E, and F). The dean of instruction was provided a short script that detailed the procedures for recruiting adult learners and faculty members (see Appendix E). The researcher provided the dean of instruction with information letters for part-time and full-time faculty members and information letters for adult learners (see Appendix A) regarding the study. The information letters provided to the dean of instruction extended an invitation to participate in the study, and explained the procedures for distributing and collecting the *Adult Learner Needs Survey*.

In addition, an instructional letter, and script, regarding proper procedures for distributing and collecting surveys were provided for all selected faculty members to ensure proper distribution and collection of student surveys. These letters were distributed to each selected

faculty member by the dean of instruction (see Appendices D and E). To ensure consistency, scripts (see Appendix E) were provided for the dean of instruction detailing the proper procedures to the adult learners and faculty.

The dean of instruction was asked to distribute a survey to all part-time and full-time faculty members at Troy University's Phenix City campus. Faculty members were instructed to complete and return the survey, to the dean of instruction's office, in the sealed envelope provided by the researcher, within two weeks of receipt. To ensure consistency, a script (see Appendix E) was provided to the dean of instruction regarding faculty surveys.

Additionally, the dean of instruction met with the chairs of each college on campus, to provide information letters, scripts and surveys to be distributed to faculty members teaching the selected courses during the Spring 2015 semester. The selected faculty members were provided an instructional letter regarding the proper procedure for distribution and collection of surveys (see Appendix D). Selected faculty members were asked to distribute the information letters (see Appendix A) and surveys (see Appendix F) to each student enrolled in the designated class taught by the faculty member. To ensure consistency, a script (see Appendix E) was provided for each selected faculty member. Students were asked to complete the surveys during class and return them to their instructor upon completion. Each instructor was instructed to return all student surveys in a sealed envelope, provided by the researcher, to the dean of instruction's office. The researcher obtained all sealed envelopes from the dean of instruction at the end of the two weeks.

Instrument Development

The survey instrument used in this study was the *Adult Learner Needs Survey*, based primarily on Countryman's (2006) *Adult Learner Needs Survey*. This instrument served to assess

academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners in the collegiate setting. The Adult Learner Needs Survey (see Appendix F) is a five-part questionnaire.

When responding to items on the survey concerning academic, social, and environmental needs, adult learners and faculty members used a four-point Likert-type scale. Each item was scored on an ordinal scale using the following: (4) Very Important, (3) Important, (2) Somewhat Important, (1) Not Important. In addition, to the Likert-type scale, adult learners and faculty members could provide open responses to questions related to additional needs and services.

The instrument consisted of a two-page survey comprised of five sections titled:

Academic/Learning Needs, Social Needs, Environmental Needs, Additional Needs/Services, and

Background Information.

The first section, labeled Academic/Learning Needs, included information concerning academic and learning needs of adult learners. It included 18 items that related to learning styles, campus resources, class availability, remediation, tutorial labs, course offering and faculty availability.

The second section, titled Social Needs, contained information regarding the social aspects of the collegiate environment. It encompassed 13 items regarding social engagement, organizational and community involvement, peer and faculty interactions, counseling services, and job placement opportunities.

The third section, categorized as Environmental Needs, encompassed information related to environmental needs. It included 12 items that included topics such as campus safety and security, health services, accommodations, childcare services, parking, financial aid, classroom environment, family support, and future employment opportunities.

The fourth section of the survey, titled Additional Needs/Services, included two questions that inquired about the need for additional services. These questions included: improvement of services and the usefulness of services.

The final section, categorized as Background Information, concerned information related to the participants' backgrounds. It included questions such as age, gender, student status, and degree program being pursued.

Data Collection and Coding

The researcher provided the survey, along with instructions to the dean of instruction regarding proper procedures for distributing and collecting surveys amongst selected faculty members, as well as, students enrolled in the identified courses. To ensure confidentiality and anonymity, no personal identifiers were tied to the participant survey responses. No participants were associated with their responses. In addition, no incentives were provided for participation in the study; participants were reminded participation was voluntary, and they could discontinue participation at any time during the study.

The dean of instruction distributed all faculty surveys to each departmental chair. Faculty members were provided an information letter, asked to complete the surveys and return the surveys in the provided sealed envelope to their department chair. The information letter served as the Waiver of Documentation of Consent. Department chairs collected all surveys from part-time and full-time faculty members and returned them to the dean of instruction at their institution. The researcher collected all faculty members' surveys from the deans of instruction.

In addition, the dean of instruction met with selected faculty members to provide surveys, along with an information letter and script concerning the distribution and collection of surveys (see Appendix E). Student information letters and surveys were distributed and collected by the

faculty member instructing the selected classes. The information letter served as the Waiver of Documentation of Consent. Student participants completed and returned the surveys to their instructor during class. Selected faculty members collected all surveys from part-time and full-time students and returned them to the dean of instruction. The researcher collected all students' surveys from the dean of instruction's office.

After the data collection was complete, all survey responses were compiled and securely stored for computation in the SPSS statistical analysis program. All student surveys were collected and sorted based on the students' age. Only students age 19 years or older were used in this study. All faculty and students age 19 years or older data were coded and entered into the SPSS database by the researcher.

To analyze the research data, three 2 x 2 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) tests were used to compare means between adult learners and faculty perceptions to academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners in a four-year setting. Three 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA tests and Cronbach's Alphas were appropriate statistical methods for this study. Per Green and Salkind (2005) the use of Factorial ANOVA allows for determining the effects of each independent variable separately as the main effects. Factorial ANOVA allows for examination of any potential interaction effect on the independent variable (Shannon & Davenport, 2001).

The dependent variables of this study were academic, social and environmental needs; whereas, the independent variables included adult learners and faculty members. These tests compared adult learners (part-time or full-time) and faculty members (part-time and full-time) status. Furthermore, it compared the amount of variance between the categories.

To analyze responses to the two open-ended questions in the survey concerning additional services for adult learners, qualitative research techniques were also utilized. Denzin

and Lincoln (2003) asserted qualitative analysis included the arranging of data into manageable components, identifying patterns and developing a framework for sharing what the data suggest. In 1998, Rossman and Rallis defined coding as the process of organizing material into categories prior to developing meaning to those groups.

Chapter Summary

Chapter III consisted of the introduction, design of study, protection of human participants, sample selection, data collection procedures, instrument development, and data collection and coding. The methods used in this study focused on gathering data from part-time and full-time adult learners 19 years and older and part-time and full-time faculty members from Troy University's Phenix City campus. The chapter provided a description of the instrument used in the study, and the methods used to analyze the data. Chapter IV presents the results of the statistical analyses conducted in this study. The results include the description of the sample.

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

Introduction

Gaining an understanding of the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty members, will assist colleges and universities in understanding how to adequately assist and support this diverse student population. The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners attending four-year institutions, in an effort to enhance the overall collegiate experience of nontraditional students within the university setting. This study identified the stated academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by the adult learner, as well as, faculty in the four-year university environment. There was need for this research as academic, social, and environmental needs of the adult learner populations had yet to be fully explored, especially in the four-year university setting.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, in order to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. Observing these specific needs, through the perceptions of both adult learners and faculty, is essential to providing better support services, and an overall more conductive learning experience for nontraditional students. This study explored the relationships between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at four-year universities.

This study had three primary objectives: (1) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting; (2) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting; (3) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used in this study:

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

Significance of the Study

This study is significant because it determined whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting. This study is

also significant because it confirmed if a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting. In addition, the study is significant because it established whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting. At the present time, there is a lack of investigation into the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners attending four-year institutions.

This study focused on the relationship of the stated academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners to the perceptions of those needs by faculty members. Few studies were found that addressed specific needs of adult learners at a traditional four-year university. By addressing the relationship of adult learners and faculty perceptions, universities can better serve this specific population. The information obtained from this study can assist universities in better understanding the needs of adult learners. University faculty and administrators will find this information useful in developing appropriate learning environments for adult learners at their respective institutions. This study adds to the existing body of knowledge regarding the perceived needs of adult learners on university campuses, as perceived by, adult learners and faculty at four-year institutions.

Chapter IV explores the results of the research data analysis. The chapter begins with the internal consistency reliability and validity information for the survey instrument used to collect participant data. The second section presents a description of the sample. In the third section, exploratory quantitative data results are presented. The fourth section highlights the

qualitative findings of the study. The last section of Chapter IV will provide a summary of the research study's findings.

Instrumentation of Reliability and Validity

The survey instrument used for this study was Countryman's (2006) *Adult Learner Needs Survey*. This instrument served to assess academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners in the collegiate setting, as perceived by adult learners and faculty members. The validity of Countryman's *Adult Learner Needs Survey* was established through both a validation panel, as well as, a pilot test. The *Adult Learner Needs Survey* instrument "was pilot-tested with a sample of fifteen faculty members and thirty students at Chattahoochee Valley Community College" (Countryman, 2006, p. 68). The instrument was also pilot tested on the researcher's dissertation committee. Further, the content reliability of the survey was established using Cronbach's alpha. The Cronbach's alphas for the factors were as follows: Academic (.86), Social (.92), and Environmental (.86), which indicated a satisfactory reliability coefficient for the three factors.

Description of the Sample

The sample in this research study included a convenience sample of adult learners and faculty members at Troy University's Phenix City campus. The survey was administered to all participants during the Spring 2015 semester. A total of 100 faculty members and 200 adult learners were invited to participate in the study. A total of 136 adult learners and 74 faculty members participated in this study. The response rate amongst participants were: 74% percent amongst faculty and 68 % amongst adult learners. The sample for this study consisted of two independent variables: adult learners and faculty members. From these two groups, sub-groups existed: part-time and full-time. The adult learner participants consisted of 119 full-time and 17

part-time adult learners. The faculty participants consisted of 39 full-time and 35 part-time faculty members at Troy University's Phenix City campus. To increase heterogeneity within the sample, participants were recruited from actively enrolled students during the Spring 2015 Semester, and selected from a variety of undergraduate courses extending across multiple academic divisions on campus. The sample for this study included dependent variables: academic, social and environmental needs.

Faculty Participants

Seventy-four faculty members participated in the study from Troy University's Phenix City campus. The faculty participants consisted of 39 full-time faculty and 35 part-time faculty members. Of the 74 faculty participants; 30 participants were males and 44 participants were females. Tables 1 and 2 illustrate employment status and gender of the part-time and full-time faculty members' respondents. Table 3 illustrates the age range for faculty participants.

Table 1

Participating Faculty Members' Employment Status

Status	n	Male	Female
Full-time	39	16	23
Part-time	35	14	21
Total	74	30	44

N = 74

Table 2

Participating Faculty Members' Gender

Gender	n	Full-Time	Part-Time
Male	30	16	14
Female	44	23	21
Total	74	39	35

 $\overline{N} = 74$

Table 3

Participating Faculty Members' Age Ranges

Age Ranges	n	Full-Time	Part-Time
19 – 24	0	0	0
25 – 34	7	2	5
35 – 44	31	14	17
45 – 54	22	13	9
55 – 64	12	8	4
65 – 74	2	2	0
Total	74	39	35

 $\overline{N} = 74$

Student Participants

One hundred and thirty-six part-time and full-time adult learners, age 19 years or older, enrolled in an undergraduate program at Troy University, participated in the study. The adult learner participants consisted of 119 full-time and 17 part-time adult learners. Of the 136 adult learners, 50 participants were males and 86 participants were females. Tables 4 and 5 illustrate enrollment status and gender of the part-time and full-time adult learner participants. Table 6 illustrates the age range for adult learner participants.

Table 4

Participating Adult Learners' Enrollment Status

Status	n	
Full-time	119	
Part-time	17	
Total	136	
N = 136		

Table 5

Participating Adult Learners' Gender

Status	n	Full-Time	Part-Time
Male	50	40	10
Female	86	79	7
Total	136	119	17
N 126			

N = 136

Table 6

Participating Adult Learners' Age Range

Age Range	n	Full-Time	Part-Time
19 – 24	42	41	1
25 – 34	48	43	5
35 – 44	29	24	5
45 – 54	15	10	5
55 – 64	2	1	1
65 – 74	0	0	0
Total	136	119	17

N = 136

Quantitative Data Findings

In this section, the research study results of the quantitative data regarding the previously discussed research questions are presented. Three 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA tests were conducted to determine the relationship of adult learners' stated needs (academic, social, and environmental) to the two independent variables, full-time and part-time adult learners and full-time and part-time faculty members. In this section, the results of the participant data analyses in relation to the research questions are presented.

Academic Needs

Research Question One: What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?

A 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA test was conducted to evaluate the potential relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting. The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA was tested at the .05 level. The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA indicated no significant relationship existed between adult learners and faculty members, F(1, 206) = .16, p = .69, observed power = .07. The results indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status, F(1, 206) = 4.76, p < .05, partial $p^2 = .02$, observed power = .58. The results indicated no significant interaction effect between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding academic needs, F(1, 206) = 3.62, p = .06, observed power = .47 (see Table 7). Means and standard deviations for academic needs are reported in Table 7.

Table 7

2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA (Between-Subjects) for Academic Needs

Source	df	F	*p	η^2	Observed Power
Adult Learners/Faculty Members	1	.16	.69		.07
Part-Time and Full-Time Status	1	4.76	.03	.02	.58
Part-Time and Full-Time Status/ Adult Learners and Faculty Members	1	3.62	.06		.47

^{*}p < .05

Social Needs

Research Question Two: What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?

A 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA test was conducted to evaluate the potential relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty members' perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting. The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA was tested at the .05 level. The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA indicated no significant difference between adult learners' stated social needs, and faculty perception of those needs, F(1, 206) = .08, p = .77, observed power = .06. The results indicated no significant difference between part-time and full-time status, F(1, 206) = .45, p = .50, observed power = .10. The results indicated no significant interaction between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding social needs, F(1, 206) = .41, p = .52, observed power = .10 (see Table 8).

Table 8

2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA (Between-Subjects) for Social Needs

Source	df	F	*p	η^2	Observed Power
Adult Learners/Faculty Members	1	.08	.77		.05
Part-Time and Full-Time Status	1	.45	.50		.10
Part-Time and Full-Time Status/ Adult Learners and Faculty Members	1	.41	.52		.10

^{*}p < .05

Environmental Needs

Research Question Three: What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

A 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA test was conducted to evaluate the potential relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty members' perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting. The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA was tested at the .05 level. The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA indicated no significant difference between adult learners' stated environmental needs, and faculty perception of those needs, F(1, 206) = .21, p = .65, observed power = .07. The results indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status, F(1, 206) = 4.66, p < .05, partial $p^2 = .02$, observed power = .57. The results indicated no significant interaction between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding social needs, F(1, 206) = .01, p = .93, observed power = .05 (see Table 9).

Table 9

2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA (Between-Subjects) for Environmental Needs

Source	df	F	*p	η^2	Observed Power
Adult Learners/Faculty Members	1	.21	.65		.07
Part-Time and Full-Time Status	1	4.66	.03	.02	.57
Part-Time and Full-Time Status/ Adult Learners and Faculty Members	1	.01	.93		.05

^{*}p < .05

Qualitative Data Findings

Responses from the two open-ended questions tended to support quantitative results.

Participants were presented the following questions:

- 1. In what way(s) can this university improve services for adult learners?
- 2. What specific services would be useful to you as an adult learner?

To analyze participant responses to the open-ended questions, responses were coded and themes were reviewed. Five themes emerged from the open-ended questions to include: Tutorial Resources/Labs, Course Offerings, Academic Advisement, Childcare Services, and Campus Safety/Parking. These themes were categorized per adult learners' needs (academic, social, and environmental). The following responses relate to academic and environmental needs; social needs were not represented in the responses.

Academic Factors

Theme 1 – Tutorial Resources/Labs

Qualitative data gathered through the open-ended questions suggested adult students seek additional tutoring resources. Student comments suggested additional tutoring opportunities will assist students in meeting course requirements, and enhance their overall academic abilities. The following responses were provided on the surveys:

"Faculty should be readily available to assist students with disabilities"

"The school should provide more opportunities for face to face tutoring."

"Have more tutors available to help in different subject areas."

"Campus should provide 24-hour access to computer labs."

"Campus should offer have more tutors for math courses."

"Extra tutoring should be provided for all students in all programs."

"Computer labs should be available in multiple building on campus."

"Have more opportunities for in person tutoring."

"Library resources and guidance available at our campus."

Theme 2 – Course Offerings

Qualitative data derived during the open-ended questions indicated adult students preferred a diverse range of course offerings. Participants indicated a need for additional courses to be offered in the following formats: day, evening/night, online, hybrid, and weekend options. The following responses were provided on the surveys:

"Offer hybrid classes that allow students more flexibility with on campus courses."

"Offer additional online courses for students unable to commute to campus and attend in-class courses."

"Offer more night and weekend courses for students who work full-time and go to school full-time."

"On campus courses, should end prior to 10:00 pm to accommodate students with fulltime jobs and family."

"Flexible classes that are offered multiple time of day."

"Offer more accelerated courses in the mini term format."

"Provide more day-time courses on campus."

"Provide courses multiple times during the year."

"Offer some of the courses currently only offered online on campus face-to-face."

"Offer more evening courses."

"More weekend courses should be offered."

Theme 3 – Academic Advisement

Qualitative data gathered through the open-ended questions indicated adult learners seek additional academic advisement support. Student comments suggested additional advisement efforts will assist students in meeting program requirements, and enhance their overall academic experience. The following responses were provided on the surveys:

"Access to my academic advisor on the campus that I attend; my advisor is in Troy, Alabama; no face-to-face advising."

"Academic advisor should be more in line with students by helping them to ensure the correct courses are being completed for degree."

"Counselors should be more involved throughout the student's progress."

"Advisors should help students understand which courses will be available at least two terms/semesters out, so we can better plan our schedules in advance."

"The ability to maintain the same advisor until I complete my degree program."

Environmental Factors

Theme 4 – Childcare Services

Qualitative data obtained from the open-ended questions indicated adult students were interested in their institution providing childcare services. Childcare services would assist adult learners in attending class throughout the semester. The following comments were made on the surveys:

"Childcare services on campus would be convenient for students with young children."

"Daycare services on campus during day and evening classes."

"Childcare services for students taking classes during the evening hours."

"Some type of daycare/childcare services."

"Onsite childcare service; many students taking classes at night have children."

"Free childcare resource since many students do not have family to keep their children and cannot afford extended daycare rates."

Theme 5 – Campus Safety/Parking

Qualitative data received from the open-ended questions indicated adult learners' interest in having increased campus security present in all campus buildings. Student comments also noted the need for enhanced student parking that are in closer proximity to campus buildings where their classes are held. Participants also suggested the need for increased lighting on campus, with particular interest in the student parking areas across campus. The following comments were made on the surveys:

"Increased student parking closer to the buildings."

"Brighter lighting throughout all parking areas on campus."

"On campus security in all buildings, during late evening/night classes at night."

"More accessible parking on campus for students with disabilities."

"More parking for classes offered during the week and on the weekends."

Chapter Summary

This chapter explored the results of the statistical analyses from the collection of participant data. Three 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA tests were conducted to examine the potential relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members' perceptions of adult learners' academic, social, and environmental needs. The results indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status for academic needs. The results also indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status for environmental needs. No other relationships were found through the analyses of

participant data. Chapter V discusses the findings of this study, as well as, implications for four-year universities. This chapter will also highlight areas for further research, while providing an overview of the research study.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, in order to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. Observing these specific needs, through the perceptions of both adult learners and faculty, is essential to providing better support services, and an overall more conductive learning experience for nontraditional students. This study explored the relationships between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at four-year universities.

This study had three primary objectives: (1) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting; (2) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting; (3) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used in this study:

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

The sample in this research study included a convenience sample of adult learners and faculty members at Troy University's Phenix City campus. The survey was administered to all participants during the Spring 2015 semester. A total of 136 adult learners and 74 faculty members participated in this study. The sample for this study consisted of two independent variables: adult learners and faculty members. From these two groups, sub-groups existed: part-time and full-time. The adult learner participants consisted of 119 full-time and 17 part-time adult learners. The faculty participants consisted of 39 full-time and 35 part-time faculty members at Troy University's Phenix City campus. To increase heterogeneity within the sample, participants were recruited from actively enrolled students during the Spring 2015 Semester, and selected from a variety of undergraduate courses extending across multiple academic divisions on campus. The sample for this study included dependent variables: academic, social and environmental needs.

Seventy-four faculty members participated in the study from Troy University's Phenix

City campus. The faculty participants consisted of 39 full-time faculty and 35 part-time faculty

members. Of the 74 faculty participants; 30 participants were males and 44 participants were females. One hundred and thirty-six part-time and full-time adult learners, age 19 years or older, enrolled in an undergraduate program at Troy University, participated in the study. The adult learner participants consisted of 119 full-time and 17 part-time adult learners. Of the 136 adult learners, 50 participants were males and 86 participants were females.

The survey instrument used in this study was the *Adult Learner Needs Survey*, based primarily on Countryman's (2006) *Adult Learner Needs Survey*. This instrument served to assess academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners in the collegiate setting. The Adult Learner Needs Survey (see Appendix E) is a five-part questionnaire.

When responding to items on the survey concerning academic, social, and environmental needs, adult learners and faculty members used a four-point Likert-type scale. Each item was scored on an ordinal scale using the following: (4) Very Important, (3) Important, (2) Somewhat Important, (1) Not Important. In addition, to the Likert-type scale, adult learners and faculty members could provide open responses to questions related to additional needs and services.

The instrument consisted of a two-page survey comprised of five sections titled:

Academic/Learning Needs, Social Needs, Environmental Needs, Additional Needs/Services, and Background Information. The first section, labeled Academic/Learning Needs, included information concerning academic and learning needs of adult learners. It included 18 items that related to learning styles, campus resources, class availability, remediation, tutorial labs, course offering and faculty availability.

The second section, titled Social Needs, contained information regarding the social aspects of the collegiate environment. It encompassed 13 items regarding social engagement,

organizational and community involvement, peer and faculty interactions, counseling services, and job placement opportunities.

The third section, categorized as Environmental Needs, encompassed information related to environmental needs. It included 12 items that included topics such as campus safety and security, health services, accommodations, childcare services, parking, financial aid, classroom environment, family support, and future employment opportunities.

The fourth section of the survey, titled Additional Needs/Services, included two questions that inquired about the need for additional services. These questions included: improvement of services and the usefulness of services. The final section, categorized as Background Information, concerned information related to the participants' backgrounds. It included questions such as age, gender, student status, and degree program being pursued.

Discussion of Findings

The results gathered from the quantitative research data indicated the following for the three research questions. For Research Question One, "What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?" The results of the 2X2 Factorial ANOVA indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status. However, the results indicated no statistically significant relationship between adult learners and faculty members. The results indicated no statistically significant interaction effect between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding academic needs. In comparing results indicated in this study with previous research efforts regarding academic needs of adult learners; the following results are presented. Countryman (2006) also indicated no statistically significant difference between adult learners stated

academic needs and faculty perception of those needs; however, the results of Countryman's study did not indicate a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status regarding perceived academic needs of adult learners. Whereas, the results of this study indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status regarding academic needs.

For Research Question Two, "What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?" The 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA indicated no statistically significant difference between adult learners' stated social needs, and faculty perception of those needs. The results indicated no statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status. The results indicated no statistically significant interaction effect between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding social needs. In comparison, Countryman (2006) indicated a significant difference between adult learners stated social needs and faculty perception of those needs; faculty scored higher than adult learners in their response to perceived social needs of adult learners. Countryman (2006) results also indicated an interaction effect between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding social needs.

For Research Question Three, "What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?" The 2X2 Factorial ANOVA indicated a statistically significant difference between part-time and full-time status. The results indicated no statistically significant difference between adult learners' stated environmental needs, and faculty perception of those needs. The results indicated no statistically significant

interaction effect between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding environmental needs. In comparison, Countryman (2006) indicated no statistically significant relationship between part-time and full-time status. However, Countryman's results indicated a significant difference between adult learners stated environmental needs and faculty perception of those needs; faculty scored higher in their response to perceived environmental needs of adult learners. Countryman (2006) also indicated an interaction effect occurred between part-time and full-time status and adult learners and faculty members regarding environmental needs.

In addition to the quantitative data derived from the three 2X2 Factorial ANOVAs, responses to the open-ended questions also served to highlight perceived needs of adult learners, per adult learners and faculty. Participants were presented the following open-ended questions in the survey:

- 1. In what way(s) can this university improve services for adult learners?
- 2. What specific services would be useful to you as an adult learner?

The data gathered from the qualitative portion of the study provided additional information regarding themes that emerged relating to adult learners' needs. Two themes (academic and environmental) emerged in participant responses, and are detailed in the following paragraphs.

Qualitative: Academic Factors

Theme 1 – Tutorial Resources/Labs: Participants indicated a need for additional tutoring services and student computer labs on campus. Participants specified that additional tutorial resources and lab services would help them better understand course materials; yielding greater academic performance in the overall course. Adult learner comments indicated the need for face

to face tutoring opportunities, as well as, having specific tutors assigned to specific subject areas in their programs. Participants also suggested their campus provide all students with unlimited access to student computer labs. Students also indicated the need for additional computer labs in all buildings on campus. In addition to tutoring services, and computer resources, adult learners also indicated the need for on campus library resources for students attending Troy University's Phenix City campus.

Theme 2 – Course Offerings: Participants indicated a need for preferred a diverse range of course offerings. Participants indicated a need for additional courses to be offered in the following formats: day, evening/night, online, hybrid and weekend options. Adult learners indicated the need for additional courses to be offered at various times of the day; providing students with increased options in developing a schedule that comments their individual needs. Participants also indicated the need for more daytime courses, and courses to be offered during the weekend for those who cannot commute to campus during the evening hours. Other comments indicated the need for additional evening courses, along with more courses offered in an accelerated mini term. Participants also indicated the need of more hybrid courses offered throughout the academic year to accommodate students who work full-time while attending school.

Theme 3 – Academic Advisement: Adult learner comments indicated the need for on campus academic advisement to either replace or supplement the virtual advising format that is provided from the university's Troy, Alabama campus. Participant comments also suggested that academic advisors should work closely with their students to ensure they understand the overall requirements for their degree programs, and only the correct courses are being completed in satisfying the program requirements. Student comments also encouraged academic advisors to be

more involved with their students throughout the entire matriculation of their programs.

Participants also suggested the interest in maintaining the same academic advisor throughout their program, versus experiencing multiple changes in advising staff while pursuing the academic program.

Qualitative: Environmental Factors

Theme 4 – Childcare Services: Participants indicated a need for on campus childcare services each semester for students currently enrolled in courses. Adult learners indicated that childcare services would assist them in attending class on a regular basis throughout the semester; reducing barriers to attending on campus, face-to-face courses. Responses also suggested adult learners typically have younger children, who require supervision, and are unable to afford the cost of childcare services that extend beyond normal hours.

Theme 5 – Safety/Parking: Adult learners suggested the need for increased campus security on campus at all buildings on campus, with primary focus on courses offered during the late evening/night hours, as well as, courses offered during the weekends. Participants also noted their interest in seeing more lighting on campus, with primary attention on student parking areas. Student comments also suggested the need for additional student parking zones that are in closer proximity to campus buildings; especially for students with disabilities, as well as, for all students enrolled in courses held during the late evening/night hours.

Implications

For the past three decades, more adult learners have enrolled in colleges and universities throughout the country than in previous decades; drastically changing the landscape of higher education (Hardin, 2008). Adult students are motivated to either enter higher education for the first time, or return to post-secondary education for many reasons; in some cases, the influence to

pursue post-secondary studies may be positive or negative. Per Hardin (2008) regardless of the motivation for enrolling into a college or university, a common theme generally exists amongst the adult student population. For instance, many adult learners opt to return to the educational environment when faced with one or more transitions in their personal or professional lives. For instance, an adult may decide to return to the educational forefront in preparing for a new career, advance in their current career field or wish to gain new skills that will prepare them for retirement. Watters (2003) also argued adult learners enroll in universities for a diverse set of reasons, and have vastly different educational needs and expectations than their traditional counterparts in terms of academic support and guidance.

Watters (2003) described adult learners as older students pursuing their first academic program at the college level, or one returning to the collegiate setting after being away for an extended amount of time. Adult learners generally return to the college setting to enhance their lives; either personally or professionally (Watters, 2003). Hardin (2008) postulated that adult learners often experience various challenges while pursuing their educational endeavors; this hypothesis encourages institutions to assume adult students need the same level of support as traditional students. In some cases, adult learners may need more attention and support in comparison to their traditional counterparts (Hardin, 2008). Pennington and Harris (1980) hypothesized that adult learners have needs that differ from the traditional collegiate population. These differences can cause higher education institutions to experience many challenges while addressing the expectations of nontraditional learners (Pennington & Harris, 1980).

While more adult learners are enrolling in colleges and universities throughout the country, institutions are witnessing lower retention rates amongst the nontraditional students in comparison to the traditional student body. Rendon (1995) suggested that most nontraditional

learners drop-out and leave their institutions after their first semester; failing to complete their programs of study. In responding to this trend, universities are encouraged to dedicate more attention and resources in aiding adult learners in successfully transitioning into the college environment Rendon (1995).

The results from this study indicated no statistically significant difference between adult learners and faculty overall perception of adult learner academic needs. However, the results did find a statistically significant relationship between part-time and full-time status regarding the academic needs of adult learners. Participants whom self-identified as having a full-time status at the university scored higher in their response to academic needs of adult learners, than participants whom self-identified as having a part-time status at the university. The results found no statistically significant difference existed between adult learners' stated social needs and faculty perception of their social needs.

The results indicated no statistically significant difference between adult learners' and faculty overall perception of adult learner environmental needs. However, the results found a statistically significant relationship existed between part-time and full-time status regarding environmental needs of adult learners. Participants whom self-identified as having a full-time status at the university scored higher in their response to environmental needs of adult learners, in comparison to participants whom self-identified as having a part-time status at the university.

Several implications may be concluded from this study which may assist colleges and universities in implementing programs and services to adequately address the needs of adult learners enrolled at their respective institutions.

Implications for Faculty and Administration

As universities seek to enhance student persistence rates, the results from this research study, as well as, the literature review seek to aid institutions in gaining greater insight into academic, social and environmental needs of the adult learner population. Although adult learners typically enter the collegiate environment with a wealth of experience, this student population often face multiple obstacles while pursuing their educational endeavors (Wyatt, 2011). Per Gast (2013) as more adult learners enter the collegiate setting, colleges and universities are encouraged to evaluate the effectiveness of programs and services geared toward meeting the needs of nontraditional students at their respective institutions. By addressing the needs of the adult student population, institutions are better equipped to retain their students until graduation (Gast, 2013).

The results from this study encourage university administrators and faculty to provide support resources in a manner that adult learners may easily access such resources. In addressing academic needs of adult learners, institutions are encouraged to establish face-to-face tutoring services for all academic subjects. Tutoring opportunities will aid adult learners in gaining a better understanding of course materials, as well as, assist nontraditional students in further connecting with faculty and fellow students beyond the classroom environment. Institutions are also encouraged to provide unlimited access to student computer labs and library resources. Faculty are also encouraged to diversify course schedules each semester, as well as, create a variety of course design methods in which courses will be delivered. Through offering a wide variety of courses, as well as, a diverse range of learning formats to choose, adult learners will be afforded the opportunity to create a learning environment conducive to their needs and expectations.

Faculty and administrators should create a campus environment that offers courses in the following formats: day, evening/night, online, hybrid and weekend options. Adult learners often need courses to be delivered in a variety of formats; to include: traditional in-class options, hybrid course designs, as well as, courses offered solely online for those unable to commute to campus. Results from this study indicate while some adult learners seek in-class courses solely during the evening/night hours; other adult learners are only able to attend in-class courses during earlier times of the day; either early morning or min-afternoon hours. In meeting the needs of all adult learners, faculty are encouraged to develop schedules that includes courses offered at multiple times of the day, as well as, on weekends, and not solely during the evening/night hours.

Institutions are encouraged to offer support services and student resources that extend beyond standard hours of operation. It is common for many adult learners are employed while enrolled in school and may not be able to seek assistance or access critical resources on campus during specific hours of the day. Support services should be offered at various times of the day, with a primary focus on courses offered at night and on the weekends. This type of strategy will allow the administration and faculty to target the times in which more adult learners are attending class. By extending the times in which a student may receive advisement, tutoring, or access support labs, an institution better equips the adult learner with the necessary tools needed to achieve academic success. By extended the hours for specific offices, nontraditional students will have access to student resources critical to their overall academic performance (Clark, 2006).

College and university administrators should also examine means of providing on campus childcare services each semester for students currently enrolled in courses. Providing

campus childcare services while students attend their courses, further removes an external barrier preventing many adult learners from attending class meetings on a regular basis. Results from this study indicate adult learners may have younger children, requiring supervision during the times in which classes are offered. Providing such services on campus not only extend convenience factors for parents, but may also remove or eliminate financial barriers generally associated with the cost of after-hour childcare services.

In addressing the academic needs of adult learners, Chen (2014) argued that as institutions continue experiencing rapid increases in the enrollment of adult learners, educators will need to move beyond the youth-centered academic models which often exist within most institutions, and incorporate educational structures that better address the needs of the nontraditional adult learner. As more adult learners decide to participate in post-secondary education, it is imperative for college faculty and administrators to understand the needs of students aged 25 and over (Chen, 2014). According to Kasworm (2010) many universities are youth-centric and gain their reputations based primarily on their support and overall success in meeting the needs of this specific student demographic. Unfortunately, solely focusing on the needs of the traditional student, generally leads to limited support efforts and resources that are geared primarily toward the adult learning community (Kasworm, 2010).

It is imperative that institutions understand the academic needs of adult learners enrolled at their college or university. Adult learners often experience negative feelings of academic isolation while participating in higher education (Chen, 2014). In many circumstances, the overall learning environment is designed to meet the academic needs of the traditional student; thus, causing most adult learners to feel as if they do not belong at their college or university (Reay, 2002). Knowles (1980) suggested that if the academic structure at any institution is based

primarily on the principles of pedagogy, the academic needs of adult learners may not match this educational model. As colleges and universities strived to attract and retain adult learners, it is important to understand that traditional approaches may not be well received by adult learners and may be ineffective in helping them learn (Knowles, 1980).

Adult learners are characterized as motivated students who manage multiple responsibilities while pursuing post-secondary education. For adult learners to properly manage the various obligations in their lives, they typically prefer to an institution that embraces flexible course schedules that also includes a diverse set of course format options. For instance, faculty and administration should create course schedules that encompasses daytime, evening, weekend and online offerings. This type of academic schedule allows more adult learners the opportunity to participate in postsecondary education, while meeting responsibilities associated with their work schedule and family obligations (Benshoff & Lewis, 1992; Cross, 1980). Institutions can also become more adult-centered by offering flexible learning opportunities which may include allowing students to complete their course requirements at their own pace (Hagedorn, 2005).

Faculty members are also encouraged to structure their curriculum with consideration to the individual needs of adult learners and their characteristics. Knowles (1980) asserted that adult learners prefer learning experiences that are carried out through facilitation, open dialogue, and self-directed learning opportunities. Rodriquez (2016) suggested that many adults equate education with ideas of a transitioned academic culture that has transformed from a teacher-centered environment, to a student-centered culture; focusing on the needs of the student. Faculty should strive to develop course objectives while keeping the adult learners needs in the forefront of all planning efforts and carry out class meeting with open two-way discussions and open dialogue. Allen (1993) asserted that adult learners appreciate learning experiences that are

practical in nature and can be applied to their individual lives; placing a higher value on course assignments and materials that closely relate to their personal and professional life. Knowles (1980) proposed four key assumptions which characterized the adult learner as one who (1) seeks to direct his own learning (2) has a significant amount of experiences that provide a sound resource for learning (3) has learning needs that closely relate to changing social roles and 4) interested in immediate application of knowledge.

Adult learners also appreciate the opportunity to connect their prior experiences with their academic programs at their institution (Benshoff, 1991). This expectation should motivate administrators to create evaluation policies that acknowledge prior academic coursework, but also includes a process for evaluating life experiences and learning that occurred outside of an academic setting. As universities extend their transfer credit evaluation process to include life experiences, satisfies the assumptions that adult learners have extensive life experience that serves as a sound resource for continued learning (Knowles, 1980). Conlan, Grabowski, and Smith (2003) suggested that adult learners enter the learning environment with an independent self-concept and the ability to direct their own learning. Knowles, Holton, and Swanson (1998) hypothesized that adult learners seek opportunities to share previous life experiences in the academic environment.

Hagedorn (2005) suggested institutions can become more receptive to the academic needs of adult students by developing courses that encompass exactly what they want and need to learn. Institutions can also become more adult-centered by offering flexible learning opportunities throughout all disciplines. Per Clark (2006), to address academic needs of adult learners, institutions should incorporate evening courses each semester to allow those who may work or carry out family responsibilities during the day to attend class. Offering courses at

variety times during the day allows adult students the opportunity to continue enrollment, while managing their daily lives. Institutions are also encouraged to provide extended office hours on campus; allowing the nontraditional student the opportunity to access student resources and experience adequate support services (Clark, 2006).

Adult learners may experience feelings of isolation while enrolled in their institution. These feelings of not belonging could negatively impact the nontraditional students' persistence in higher education. Faculty and administration should create academic and social spaces that connect faculty and students across campus. Learning environments should provide a direct link to other social communities external to the classroom environment (Tinto, 2000). It is argued that if students, specifically those who are nonresidential, fail to engage in the classroom, they are less likely to become involved in other social communities within the college (Tinto, 2000). The higher a student's level of social and academic integration into their institution, the stronger commitment he has with the institution and to the goal of graduating from his academic program (Pascarella & Terenzini, 1983).

Institutions should be mindful of external factors that often serve as barriers to adult participation. Willging and Johnson (2004) argued that external factors related to family obligations and lack of environmental support impact the nontraditional adult students' decision to either remain enrolled or drop-out of their coursework. By offering nontraditional resources, such as childcare services on campus, will allow adult learners to persist in the academic programs, while effectively maintaining their responsibilities as parents. Participants in this study indicated that if childcare services were available on campus, they would be able to spend more time in the campus environment.

The findings presented from this research study serves to assist colleges and universities in better understanding and addressing academic, social and environmental needs of adult learners attending a four-year institution. College and university faculty and administrators may find this information in creating a learning environment that meets the academic, social and environmental needs of nontraditional adult learners enrolled in their institution. Findings from this study can also assist colleges and universities in planning programs and establishing resources that focus on the needs of the adult learner population.

Areas for Further Research

The researcher recommends that this research study be replicated at a four-year university not located within the Southeastern region of the United States. Replicating this study at a traditional four-year institution located in a different geographical region of the United States may yield different results than those found in this study. It is also recommended this study be replicated by including university administrators as an independent variable, along with faculty and students.

This study included participants from the same university. It is recommended that future studies include participants from more than one four-year institution. The researcher suggests further studies focus on academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners; however, participants should be recruited from a minimum of two institutions located in different geographical regions of the United States.

This study included a convenience sample of 136 adult learners and 74 members from the same four-year institution. The researcher recommends future studies include a larger number of faculty and student participants. A larger number of participants may alter the results of future studies.

The researcher also recommends that future research studies include additional open ended questions; allowing participants to include more individual comments regarding academic, social, and environmental needs. Additional qualitative methods should also be considered in examining responses from adult learner and faculty participants. Further exploration into the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners should also include interviewing adult learners and faculty members. Conducting interviews will allow further examination into whether relationships exists between adult learner and faculty perception of adult learner academic, social, and environmental needs in a four-year university setting.

Chapter Summary

The purpose of this study was to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, in order to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. Observing these specific needs, through the perceptions of both adult learners and faculty, is essential to providing better support services, and an overall more conductive learning experience for nontraditional students. This study explored the relationships between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at four-year universities.

This study is significant because it determined whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting. This study is also significant because it confirmed if a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting. In addition, the study is significant because it established whether a relationship existed in part-time and full-time adult learners' stated

environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting. Currently, there is a lack of investigation into the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners attending four-year institutions.

The information obtained from this study can assist universities in better understanding the needs of adult learners. University faculty and administrators will find this information useful in developing appropriate learning environments for adult learners at their respective institutions. This study adds to the existing body of knowledge regarding the perceived needs of adult learners on university campuses, as perceived by, adult learners and faculty at four-year institutions. The study examined the following research questions:

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perception of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting?

This study had three primary objectives: (1) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the four-year university setting; (2) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated social needs and part-time and full-time faculty

perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the four-year university setting; (3) to identify the relationship of part-time and full-time adult learners' stated environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the four-year university setting.

This study included a convenience sample of 136 adult learners that were 19 years old and over enrolled in an undergraduate degree program and 74 faculty members. The participant sample was selected from Troy University's Phenix City campus, located in Phenix City, Alabama. The sample consisted of two groups: adult learners and faculty members. From these two groups, sub-groups existed. The adult learner participants consisted of 119 full-time and 17 part-time adult learners. The faculty participants consisted of 39 full-time and 35 part-time faculty members at the Troy University Phenix City campus. The survey instrument used in this study was the *Adult Learner Needs Survey*, based primarily on Countryman's (2006) *Adult Learner Needs Survey*. This instrument served to assess academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners in the collegiate setting. Three 2 x 2 Factorial ANOVA tests, along with qualitative themes, were utilized to determine the relationships between adult learners and faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic, social, and environmental needs. The SPSS statistical analysis program was used to analyze participant data gathered through this research study.

The quantitative findings of the study indicated a statistically significant interaction occurred between part-time and full-time status in relation to academic needs. The results also indicated a statistically significant interaction occurred between part-time and full-time status regarding adult learner environmental needs. No other relationships were found through the analyses of participant data. Qualitative explanations indicated significant relationships existed

between adult learners' and faculty perceptions regarding adult learners' academic and environmental needs.

REFERENCES

- Andom, M. (2007). Older Students' Struggles. Chronicle of Higher Education, 54(9), 39.
- Ast, J. V. (1999). Community college faculty: Making the paradigm shift. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 23, 559-579.
- Astin, A. (1975). Preventing students from dropping out. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Astin, A. (1984). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Personnel*, 25, 297-308.
- Astin, A. W. (1993). What matters in college?. Liberal Education, 79(4), 4.
- Astin, A. (1996). Involvement in learning revisited. Lessons we have learned. *Journal of College Student Development*. 37, 123-134.
- Astin, A. W. (1999). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. *Journal of College Student Development*, 40(5), 518–529.
- Ayers, D. F. (2011). A Critical Realist Orientation to Learner Needs. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 61(4), 341-357.
- Bean, J., & Metzner, B. (1985). A conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate student attrition. *Review of Educational Research*, 55(4), 485-540.
- Beard, D. F. (2007). Assessment of internship experiences and accounting core competencies.

 **Accounting Education, 16(2), 207-220. Retrieved January 22, 2017, from http://econpapers.repec.org/article/tafaccted/default4.htm#v16:i2
- Benshoff, J. M. (1991). Nontraditional college students: A developmental look at the

- needs of women and men returning to school. *Journal of Young Adulthood and Middle Age*, 3, 47-61.
- Benshoff, J. M., & Lewis, H. A. (1992). *Nontraditional college students*. Ann Arbor, MI:

 Eric Clearinghouse on Counseling and Student Services. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED347483)
- Bland, S. M. (2003). Advising Adults: Telling or Coaching?. Adult Learning, 14(2), 6-9.
- Boone, E. J. (1985). *Developing programs in adult education*. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice Hall.
- Boyd, R. D., & Apps, J. W. (1980). *Redefining the discipline of adult education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Bull, K., & Kimball, S. (2000). Teaching adult (nontraditional) learners in computer mediated learning. Retrieved December 1, 2015 from http://home.okstate.edu/homepages.nsf/toc/EPSY5720cml60.
- Burden, P. R., & Byrd, D. M. (2007). *Methods for effective teaching: Promoting K–12 student understanding* (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon.
- Carlan, P. (2001). Adult students and community college beginnings: Examining the efficacy of performance stereotypes on a university campus. *College Student Journal*, 35(2), 169-181.
- Carney-Crompton, S., & Tan, J. (2002). Support systems, psychological functioning, and academic performance of nontraditional female students. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 52(2). 140-154.
- Chao, R., & Good, G. E. (2004). Nontraditional students' perspectives on college education: A qualitative study. *Journal of College Counseling*, 7(1), 5-12.

- Chapman, D.W. & Pascarella, E.T. (1983). Predictors of academic and social integration of college students. *Research in Higher Education*, *19*(3): 295-322.
- Chen, J. C. (2014). Teaching nontraditional adult students: adult learning theories in practice.

 Teaching in Higher Education, 19(4), 406-418.
- Chickering, A. W. (1974). Commuters versus residents. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Choy, S. (2002). Nontraditional undergraduates: Findings from the condition of education 2002.

 NCES 2002-012. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- Clark, M. R. (2006). Succeeding in the city: Challenges and best practices on urban commuter campuses. *About Campus*, 11(3), 2-8.
- Conlan, J., Grabowski, S., & Smith, K. (2003). Current trends in adult education: Emerging perspectives on learning, teaching, and technology. Retrieved July 20, 2014 from http://www.coe.uga.edu/epltt/AdultEducation.htm.
- Council on Adult and Experiential Learning (2000). Serving Adult Learners in Higher Education, retrieved April 23, 2017 from http://www.cael.org/.
- Countryman, K. C. (2006). A comparison of adult learners' academic, social, and environmental needs as perceived by adult learners and faculty. Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (AAT 3215699)
- Coulter, X., & Mandell, A. (2012). Adult higher education: Are we moving in the wrong direction?. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 60(1), 40-42.
- Cronbach, L. J. (1963). *Educational psychology*. (2nd ed.). New York: Harcourt, Brace and World.
- Cross, K. P. (1980). Our changing students and their impact on colleges: Prospects for a true learning society. *Phi Delta Kappan, May,* 630-632.

- Cross, K. P. (1981). Adults as learners: Increasing participation and facilitating learning. San Francisco, CA: Bass-Bass.
- Cupp, L. (1991). Acquiring new perspectives: The impact of education on adult students in a traditional university. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Association for Adult and Continuing Education, Montreal, Quebec.
- Davis, J. (2015). Education through Self-directed Learning. *Australian Nursing & Midwifery Journal*, 23(1), 26-27.
- Decker, A. (2013). Student-centered practice in the 21st century community college.

 Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 37(7), 561-565.
- Denzin, N., & Lincoln, Y. (2003). Strategies of qualitative inquiry. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Dill, P., & Henley, T. (1998). Stressors of college: A comparison of traditional and nontraditional students. *The Journal of Psychology*, *132*, *25*-32.
- Donaldson, J. F. (1999). A model of college outcomes for adults. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 50(1), 24-41.
- Donaldson, J. F., & Graham, S. W. (1999). A model of college outcomes for adults. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 50, 24-40.
- Donaldson, J. F., Graham, S. W., Kasworm, C., & Dirkx, J. M. (1999). *Adult undergraduates.*participation and involvement: Future directions for theory and research. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Education Research Association.

 Montreal, Canada. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 430473)
- Donaldson, J. F., & Graham, S. (2002). Accelerated degree programs: Design and policy implications. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 50(2), 2–13.

- Donaldson, J. F., & Townsend, B. K. (2007). Higher education journals' discourse about adult undergraduate students. *Journal of Higher Education*, 78(1), 27-50.
- Eastmond, D. V. (1992). Effective facilitation of computer conferencing. *Continuing Higher Education Review*, 56(1), 23–34.
- Evans, R. B., & Rilling, M. (2000). How the challenge of explaining learning influenced the origins and development of John B.... *American Journal of Psychology*, 113(2), 275.
- Fairchild, E. E. (2003). Multiple roles of adult learners. *New Directions for Student Services*, 102, 11-16.
- Flint, T. (2000). Serving adult learners in higher education. Chicago, IL: Council for Adult and Experiential Learning.
- Gagne, R. M. (1965). The Conditions of Learning. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Galbraith, M. W., & Shedd, P. E. (1990). Building skills and proficiencies of the community college instructor of adult learners. *Community College Review*, 18(2), 6–14.
- Gast, A. (2013). Current Trends in Adult Degree Programs: How Public Universities Respond to the Needs of Adult Learners. *New Directions For Adult & Continuing Education*, 2013(140), 17-25.
- Giancola, J. K., Grawitch, M. J., & Borchert, D. (2009). Dealing with the stress of college: A model for adult students. *Adult Education Quarterly*, *59*(3), 246-263.
- Graham, S., & Donaldson, J. F. (1999). Adult students' academic and intellectual development in college. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 49(3), 147.
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2005). *Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Guidos, M., & Dooris, M. J. (2008). Correlates of adult learner degree completion in a research university. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 56(2), 45-51.
- Hagedorn, L. (2005). SQUARE Pegs. Change, 37(1), 22-29.
- Hagedorn, L. S., Perrakis, A. I., & Maxwell, W. (2002). The positive commandments: Ten ways the community colleges help students succeed. (Report No. JC 020 466). Los Angeles,
 CA: Los Angeles Community College District. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED466 263).
- Haggard, E. A. (1963). Learning a process of change. In L. D. Crow & A. Crow (Eds.), *Readings* in human learning (pp. 19-27). NY: McKay.
- Hardin, C.J. (2008). Adult students in higher education: A portrait of transitions. *New Directions* for Higher Education, 144, 49-57.
- Hassan, O. A. (2011). Learning theories and assessment methodologies an engineering educational perspective. *European Journal of Engineering Education*, 36(4), 327-339.
- Hatfield, K. M. (2003). Funding higher education for adult students. *New Directions for Student Services*, (102), 27.
- Hearn, J. C. (1992). Emerging variations in postsecondary attendance patterns: An investigation of part-time, delayed and nondegree enrollment. *Research in Higher Education*, *33*, 657-687.
- Hilgard, E. R., & Bower, G. H. (1966). *Theories of learning*. New York: Appleton-Century Crofts.
- Hirschorn, M. W. (1988). Students over 25 found to make up 45 percent of campus enrollments. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, p. A35.

- Hlinka, K. R. (2017). Tailoring retention theories to meet the needs of rural Appalachian Community College students. *Community College Review*, 45(2), 144-164.
- Horn, L., & Carroll, C. (1996). Nontraditional undergraduates, trends in enrollment from 1986 to 1992 and persistence and attainment among 1989–90 beginning postsecondary students (NCES 97–578). U.S. Department of Education, NCES. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Retrieved April 3, 2016 from: http://nces.ed.gov/pubs/97578.pdf.
- Hussar, W., & Bailey, T. M. (2009). Projections of education statistics to 2018. Actual and middle alternative projected numbers for total enrollment in all degree-granting postsecondary institutions by sex, age, and attendance status: Fall 1993 through fall 2018 [Table]. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. http://nces.ed.gov/programs/projections/projections2018/.
- Jaramillo, J. A. (1996). Vygotsky's sociocultural theory and contributions to the development of constructivist curricula. *Education*, 117(1), 133.
- Jonassen, D. H. (2000). Learning to solve problems with technology: A constructivist perspective. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill.
- Johnson, C. (2005). Serving low-income adult students: What must colleges do?. *Presidency*, 8(1), 30-32.
- Kasworm, C. (2003). Setting the stage: Adults in higher education. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 102, 3-10.
- Kasworm, C. E. (2008). Emotional challenges of adult learners in higher education. *New Directions for Adult & Continuing Education*, 2008(120), 27-34.

- Kasworm, C. E. (2010). Adult learners in a research university: Negotiating undergraduate student identity. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 60(2), 143-160.
- Kasworm, C. E. (2012). US adult higher education: One context of lifelong learning.

 International Journal of Continuing Education & Lifelong Learning, 5(1), 1-19.
- Kasworm, C. E., Polson, C. J., & Fishback, S. J. (2002). Responding to adult learners in higher education. Malabar, FL: Krieger.
- Keintz, B. J. (2004). *A qualitative analysis of adult learners* (Order No. 3132821). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text. (305112024).
- Kenner, C., & Weinerman, J. (2011). Adult learning theory: Applications to non-traditional college students. *Journal of College Reading & Learning*, 41(2), 87-96.
- Kerka, S. (1998). *Adult learner retention revisited*. Columbus, OH: Eric Clearinghouse on Adult, Career, and Vocational Education. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 166).
- Kinsella, S. (1998). A cross-discipline study of traditional and nontraditional college students. *College Student Journal*, *32*(4), 532-579.
- Kinzie, J., & Kuh, G. D. (2004). Going deep: Learning from campuses that share responsibility for student success. *About Campus*, 9(5), 2–8.
- Klein-Collins, R. (2011). Strategies for becoming adult-learning- Focused institutions. *Peer Review*, 13(1), 4-7.
- Knowles, M. S. (1968). Andragogy, not pedagogy. Adult Leadership, 16(10), 350-352.
- Knowles, M. S. (1970). *The modern practice of adult education; andragogy versus pedagogy*. New York: Association Press.
- Knowles, M. S. (1975). *Self-directed learning: A guide for learners and teachers*. New York: Association Press.

- Knowles, M. S. (1980). The modern practice of adult education: From pedagogy to andragogy. Cambridge, The Adult Education Company. Retrieved from http://www.umsl.edu/~henschkej/articles/a_The_%20Modern_Practice_of_Adult_Education.pdf
- Knowles, M. S. (1984). *Andragogy in action: Applying modern principles of adult learning*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F., & Swanson, R. A. (1998). The adult learner. Houston: Gulf.
- Knowles, M. S., Holton, E. F., & Sawnson, R. (2005). *The adult learner: the definitive classic in adult education and human resource development* (6th ed.). San Diego, Calif.: Elsevier/Butterworth/Heinemann.
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Kuh, G. (1993). In their own words: What students learn outside the classroom. *American Educational Research Journal*, 30, 277-304.
- Kuh, G. D., Cruce, T. M., Shoup, R., Kinzie, J., & Gonyea, R. M. (2008). Unmasking the effects of student engagement on first-year college grades and persistence. *Journal of Higher Education*, 79(5), 540-563.
- Light, R. J. (2001, March 2). The Power of Good Advice for Students. *Chronicle of Higher Education*. p. B11.
- Markle, G. (2015). Factors influencing persistence among nontraditional university students. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 65(3), 267-285.
- McGlynn, A.P. (2008). Millennials in college: How do we motivate them? *The Education Digest*, 73(6), 19–22.

- Medved, C., & Heisler, J. (2002). A negotiated order exploration of critical student- faculty interactions: Student-parents manage multiple roles. *Communication Education*, 51(2), 105-120.
- Merriam, S. B., Caffarella, R.S., & Baumgartner, L.M. (2007). *Learning in adulthood: A comprehensive guide* (3rd ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merrill, B. (2015). Determined to stay or determined to leave? A tale of learner identities, biographies and adult students in higher education. *Studies In Higher Education*, 40(10), 1859-1871.
- Metzner, B., & Bean, J. (1987). The estimation of a conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate student attrition. *Research in Higher Education*, 27(1), 15-38.
- Maehl, W. H. (2004). Adult degrees and the learning society. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 103, 5–16.
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2003). National Adult Learner

 Satisfaction and Priorities Report: Community, Junior, and Technical Colleges

 2003. U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing

 Office.
- Nelken, M. L. 2009. Negotiating Classroom Process: Lessons from Adult Learning. *Negotiation Journal* 25(2): 181–194.
- Osgood-Treston, B. (2001). Program completion barriers faced by adult learners in higher education. *Academic Exchange Quarterly*, 5(2), 120.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1983). Predicting Voluntary Freshman Year

 Persistence/Withdrawal Behavior in a Residential University: A Path Analytic Validation
 of Tinto's Model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75(2), 215-26.

- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). *How college affects students*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Pennington, W. D., & Harris, M. (1980). Friday night special in Tulsa. *The Community and Junior College Journal*, 50(8), 52-55.
- Plageman, P. (2011). Educator, Planner and Advocate: Higher Education for Adults in the New Millennium. *Adult Learning*, 22(2), 32-36.
- Polson, C.J. (1994). Developmental advising for nontraditional students. *Adult Learning*, 6(1), 21-28.
- Quinnan, T. W. (1997). Adult students "at-risk": Culture bias in higher education. Westport, CT: Bergin & Garvey.
- Reason, R., Terenzni, P.T., & Domingo, R.J. (2007). Developing social and personal competence in the first year of college. *The Review of Higher Education*, 30(3), 271–299.
- Rendón, L. I. (1995). Facilitating retention and transfer for first generation students in community colleges. Paper presented at the New Mexico Institute, Rural Community College Initiative, Espanola, NM. Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED383369).
- Ritt, E. (2008). Redefining Tradition: Adult Learners and Higher Education. *Adult Learning*, 19(1/2), 12-16.
- Rogers, C. (1959). Psychology: A study of science. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Rogers, C. R. (1969). Freedom to learn. Columbus, Ohio: Merrill.
- Rodriguez, W. (2016). Analysis of knowles' andragogical principles, curricular structure, and adult english as a second language standards: Curriculum implications (Order No. 10129075). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text. (1814774744).

- Rosier, J. M. (2016). Predicting student departure: Academic integration and other factors that predict departure among nontraditional students at a commuter university (Order No. 10240589). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Full Text. (1868419198).
- Ross-Gordon, J. M. (2003). Adult learners in the classroom. *New Directions for Student Services*, (102), 43.
- Ross-Gordon, J. M. (2011). Research on adult learners: Supporting the needs of a student population that is no longer nontraditional. *Peer Review*, *13*(1), 26-29.
- Rossman, G. B., & Rallis, S. F. (1998). *Learning in the field: An introduction to qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68.
- Schlossberg, N. K., Lynch, A. Q., & Chickering, A.W. (1989). *Improving higher education environments for adults*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Schmidt, S. W. (2013). The future of adult education. *Adult Learning*, 24(2), 79-81.
- Schuetze, H. G., Slowey, M. (2002). Participation and exclusion: A comparative analysis of nontraditional students and lifelong learners in higher education. *Higher Education*, 44(3/4), 309–327.
- Shannon, D., & Davenport, M. A. (2001). *Using SPSS to solve statistical problems: A self-instruction guide*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Skinner, B. F. (1968). The technology of teaching. New York, NY: Appleton-Century Crofts.
- Skinner, B. F. (1979). The shaping of a behaviorist: Part two of an autobiography.

 New York, NY: Knopf.

- Spady, W. (1971). Dropouts from higher education: Toward an empirical model. *Interchange*, 2(3), 38-62.
- Spellman, N. (2007). Enrollment and retention barriers adult students encounter. *Community College Enterprise*, *13*(1), 63-79.
- Smith, M. K. (1999). 'Andragogy', the *encyclopedia of informal education*. Retrieved on December 9, 2016 from http://www.infed.org/lifelonglearning/bandra.htm.
- Smith, R. M. (1982). Learning how to learn: Applied theory for adults. New York: Cambridge.
- Stein, D. S., Wanstreet, C., & Trinko, L. A. (2011). From consideration to commitment: Factors in adults' decisions to enroll in a higher education degree program. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 59(2), 68-76.
- Taniguchi, H., & Kaufman, G. (2005). Degree completion among nontraditional college students. *Social Science Quarterly (Wiley-Blackwell)*, 86(4), 912-927.
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research.

 *Review of Educational Research, 45, 89–125.
- Tinto, V. 1989. Misconceptions mar campus discussions of student retention. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, 36(1): B2.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Leaving college. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Tinto, V. (1997). Classroom as communities. *Journal of Higher Education*, 68(6), 659-623.
- Tinto, V. (2000). Part I: Revising Tiato's Theory: Linking Learning and Leaving. In, *Reworking the Student Departure Puzzle* (pp. 81-94). Vanderbilt University Press.
- Tinto, V. (2006). Research and practice of student retention: What next? *Journal of College Student Retention*: Research. Theory & Practice. 8(1). 1-19.
- Tough, A. M. (1971). The adult's learning projects; a fresh approach to theory and practice in adult learning. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.

- Tough, A. M. (1979). Choosing to Learn. Retrieved from: ERIC database (ED190741).
- Von Lehman, G. (2011). Planning to Succeed: Meeting the Needs of Adult Students Today. *Peer Review*, 13(1), 19-22.
- Vygotsky, L.S., 1998. The collected works of L.S. Vygotsky, Vol. 1–5, New York: Plenum.
- Watters, K. (2003). Are colleges meeting adults' learning needs?. Adults Learning, 14(10), 29.
- Wiltshire, H. C. (1973). The concepts of learning and need in adult education. *Studies in Adult Education*, *5*(1), 26-30.
- Wlodkowski, R.J., Maudlin, J.E., & Gahn, S.W. (2001). Learning in the fast lane: Adult learners' persistence and success in accelerated college program. Lumina Foundation for Education New Agenda Series 4(1).
- Worth, J., & Stephens, C. J. (2011). Adult students: meeting the challenge of a growing student population. *Peer Review*, 13(1), 23-25.
- Wyatt, L. G. (2011). Nontraditional student engagement: Increasing adult student success and retention. *Journal of Continuing Higher Education*, 59(1), 10-20.

APPENDIX A INFORMATION LETTERS



COLLEGE OF EDUCATION EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS, LEADERSHIP AND TECHNOLOGY

(NOTE: DO NOT AGREE TO PARTICIPATE UNLESS AN IRB APPROVAL STAMP WITH CURRENT DATES HAS BEEN APPLIED TO THIS DOCUMENT.)

INFORMATION LETTER for a Research Study entitled

"Adult learners in higher education: An examination of academic, social, and environmental needs as perceived by adult learners and faculty at a four-year institution."

You are invited to participate in a research study to examine academic, social and environmental needs as perceived by adult learners and faculty at a four-year institution. This study is being conducted by Reginald Roberson, staff member at Troy University, and doctoral student, under the direction of Dr. Maria Witte, Professor, in the Auburn University Department of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology. You are invited to participate because you are a student at Troy University and are age 19 or older.

What will be involved if you participate? Your participation is completely voluntary. If you decide to participate in this research study, you will be asked to complete a brief survey. Your total time commitment will be approximately ten to fifteen minutes.

Are there any risks or discomforts? The risks associated with participating in this study are minimal. To minimize these risks, we will maintain confidentiality of all responses. There is no identifying information connecting the data to you. Any data collected from this study will remain anonymous.

Are there any benefits to yourself or others? If you participate in this study, you can expect to be asked questions about adult learners' academic, social, and environmental needs at a four-year institution. I hope the results of this study yield greater understanding of adult learners' needs within four-year institutions, and enhance the manner in which four-year institutions address the needs of its adult learner population. However, I cannot promise you that you will receive any or all of the benefits described.

Will you receive compensation for participating? There is no compensation offered for your ten to fifteen minutes of time.

4036 Haley Center, Auburn, Al. 3684-5221; Telephone: 334-844-4460: Fax: 334-844-3072

www.auburn.edu

Are there any costs? There are no costs with the exception of your ten to fifteen minutes of time.

If you change your mind about participating, you can withdraw at any time during the study. Your participation is completely voluntary. If you choose to withdraw, your data can be withdrawn as long as it is identifiable. Your decision about whether or not to participate or to stop participating will not jeopardize your future relations with Auburn University, the Department of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology or Troy University.

Any data obtained in connection with this study will remain anonymous. We will protect your privacy and the data you provide by using a number identifier. Information collected through your participation will be used in a dissertation for partial fulfillment of a doctoral degree in Adult Education

If you have questions about this study, please contact the doctoral student, Reginald Roberson at roberre@auburn.edu or the chair of the doctoral committee, Dr. Maria Witte at mmwitte@auburn.edu.

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Auburn University Office of Research Compliance or the Institutional Review Board by phone (334)-844-5966 or e-mail at IRBadmin@auburn.edu or IRBChair@auburn.edu. You may also contact Troy University Institutional Review Board by phone at (334)-808-6294 or email at IRB@troy.edu.

HAVING READ THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, YOU MUST DECIDE IF YOU WANT TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS RESEARCH PROJECT. IF YOU DECIDE TO PARTICIPATE, THE DATA YOU PROVIDE WILL SERVE AS YOUR AGREEMENT TO DO SO. THIS LETTER IS YOURS TO KEEP.

Investigator's signature	Date
Reginald K. Roberson	
Print Name	
Co- Investigator's signature	Date
Dr. Maria Witte	
Print Name	
	The Aubum University Institutions Review Board has approved this cocument for use from 11/25/N to 11/24/M

Page 2 of 2



EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATIONS, LEADERSHIP AND TECHNOLOGY

(NOTE: DO NOT AGREE TO PARTICIPATE UNLESS AN IRB APPROVAL STAMP WITH CURRENT DATES HAS BEEN APPLIED TO THIS DOCUMENT.)

INFORMATION LETTER for a Research Study entitled

"Adult learners in higher education: An examination of academic, social, and environmental needs as perceived by adult learners and faculty at a four-year institution."

You are invited to participate in a research study to examine academic, social and environmental needs as perceived by adult learners and faculty at a four-year institution. This study is being conducted by Reginald Roberson, staff member at Troy University, and doctoral student, under the direction of Dr. Maria Witte, Professor, in the Auburn University Department of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology. You are invited to participate because you are a faculty member at Troy University and are age 19 or older.

What will be involved if you participate? Your participation is completely voluntary. If you decide to participate in this research study, you will be asked to complete a brief survey. Your total time commitment will be approximately ten to fifteen minutes.

Are there any risks or discomforts? The risks associated with participating in this study are minimal. To minimize these risks, we will maintain confidentiality of all responses. There is no identifying information connecting the data to you. Any data collected from this study will remain anonymous.

Are there any benefits to yourself or others? If you participate in this study, you can expect to be asked questions about adult learners' academic, social, and environmental needs at a four-year institution. I hope the results of this study yield greater understanding of adult learners' needs within four-year institutions, and enhance the manner in which four-year institutions address the needs of its adult learner population. However, I cannot promise you that you will receive any or all of the benefits described.

Will you receive compensation for participating? There is no compensation offered for your ten to fifteen minutes of time.

4036 Haley Center, Auburn, AL 3684-5221; Telephone: 334-844-4460: Fax: 334-844-3072

www.auburn.edu

Page 1 of 2

Are there any costs? There are no costs with the exception of your ten to fifteen minutes of time.

If you change your mind about participating, you can withdraw at any time during the study. Your participation is completely voluntary. If you choose to withdraw, your data can be withdrawn as long as it is identifiable. Your decision about whether or not to participate or to stop participating will not jeopardize your future relations with Auburn University, the Department of Educational Foundations, Leadership, and Technology or Troy University.

Any data obtained in connection with this study will remain anonymous. We will protect your privacy and the data you provide by using a number identifier. Information collected through your participation will be used in a dissertation for partial fulfillment of a doctoral degree in Adult Education

If you have questions about this study, please contact the doctoral student, Reginald Roberson at roberre@auburn.edu or the chair of the doctoral committee, Dr. Maria Witte at mmwitte@auburn.edu.

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Auburn University Office of Research Compliance or the Institutional Review Board by phone (334)-844-5966 or e-mail at IRBadmin@auburn.edu or IRBChair@auburn.edu. You may also contact Troy University Institutional Review Board by phone at (334)-808-6294 or email at IRB@troy.edu.

HAVING READ THE INFORMATION PROVIDED, YOU MUST DECIDE IF YOU WANT TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS RESEARCH PROJECT. IF YOU DECIDE TO PARTICIPATE, THE DATA YOU PROVIDE WILL SERVE AS YOUR AGREEMENT TO DO SO. THIS LETTER IS YOURS TO KEEP.

Investigator's signature	Date
Reginald K. Roberson	
Print Name	
Co- Investigator's signature	Date
Dr. Maria Witte	
Print Name	
	The Aubum University Institutional Review Board has approved this occurrent for use from 11/25/14 to 11/24/17 Protocol # 4-537 EX 1411

Page 2 of 2

APPENDIX B

AUBURN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

AUBURN UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD for RESEARCH INVOLVING HUMAN SUBJECTS REQUEST FOR EXEMPT CATEGORY RESEARCH

For Information or help completing this form, contact: THE OFFICE OF RESEARCH COMPLIANCE, 115 Ramsay Hall Phone: 334-844-5966 e-mail: IRBAdmin@auburn.edu Web Address: http://www.auburn.edu/research/vpr/ohs/index.htm

Revised 2/1/2014 Submit completed form to IRBsubmit@auburn.edu or 115 Ramsay Hall, Auburn University 36849.

Form must be populated using Artible Acrobat / Pro 9 or greater standatione program (do not fill out in browser). Hand written forms will not be accepted

Same and the same	SONNEL & TRAINING /ESTIGATOR (PI):	2			
	ld K. Roberson	Title	Doctoral Student	Dept./School	Education - EFLT
Address 2001	Lee Road 249, Sm	iths, AL 36877	AU Email ro	berre@auburn.ed	
Phone 706-33	2-1476		The second secon	r. Sherida Downe	
FACULTY ADV	ISOR (if applicable):		•		
Name Dr. Mar	ia Witte	Title	Professor	Dept./School	Education - EFLT
Address 4036	Haley Center, Aubu	urn University, A	labama 36849	•	
Phone 334-84	4-3078		AU Email wit	ttemm@auburn.ed	du
KEY PERSONN	EL: List Key Person	nel (other than Pl	and FA). Additional per	sonnel may be listed	in an attachment,
Name		Title	Institution	15	sponsibilities
					University Institutional
				Review Bo	and has approved this ment for use from
				112514	The state of the s
TRAINING CER	to this research) wit TIFICATES: Please a	hin the last 3 year	el completed CITI Huma	n Research Trainir	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea	to this research) wit TIFICATES: Please at RMATION Immers in higher educ	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all	n Research Trainir NO Key Personnel.	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER: PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive	to this research) wit TIFICATES: Please at RMATION Imers in higher educed d by adult learners a	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution.	n Research Trainir NO Key Personnel.	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER: PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi	to this research) wit TIFICATES: Please at RMATION Impers in higher educed d by adult learners at Ing: Investigate	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all	n Research Trainir NO Key Personnel.	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER: PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag	to this research) wit TIFICATES: Please at RMATION Imers in higher educe d by adult learners at ng: Investigate ency & Grant Numbe	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution.	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER! PROJECT INFO! Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag	to this research) wit TIFICATES: Please at RMATION Imers in higher educe d by adult learners at ng: Investigate ency & Grant Numbe	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution.	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contract	to this research) with the triple of	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution. Internal	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contract	to this research) with the triple of	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution.	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contract	to this research) with the triple of	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution. Internal	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contract	to this research) with the triple of	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution. Internal	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contract	to this research) with the triple of	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution. Internal	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contrac	to this research) with the triple of	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all ination of academic, so our-year institution. Internal	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contrac List any other IR	to this research) with the trifficates: Please at the trifficates: Please at the trifficates: Please at the trifficates and the trifficates at the	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all mation of academic, so our-year institution. Internal s associate with this pro ding those involved with	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External pject. h reviewing, deferr	ng (including elective
modules related TRAINING CER PROJECT INFO Title: Adult lea perceive Source of Fundi List External Ag List any contract	to this research) with the trifficates: Please at the trifficates: Please at the trifficates: Please at the trifficates and the trifficates at the	hin the last 3 yea ttach CITI comple cation: An exami and faculty at a f or r: g, or other entities	el completed CITI Huma irs? YES etion certificates for all mation of academic, so our-year institution. Internal s associate with this pro ding those involved with	n Research Trainin NO Key Personnel. cial and environm External pject. h reviewing, deferrance	ng (including elective

a.	111111		ANY		
	Does	SUMM/ he rese	earch	involve	any special populations?
		YES		NO	Minors (under age 19)
		YES	V	NO	Pregnant women, fetuses, or any products of conception
		YES	V	NO	Prisoners or Wards
		YES	7	NO	Individuals with compromised autonomy and/or decisional capacity
b.	Minima and of	al risk n themse	neans elves t	that the than thos	probability and magnitude of harm or discomfort anticipated in the research are not greater in se ordinarily encountered in daily life or during the performance of routine physical or or tests. 42 CFR 46.102(i)
c.	Does	the stu	dy inv	olve an	y of the following?
		YES	V	NO	Procedures subject to FDA Regulation Ex. Drugs, biological products, medical devices, etc.
		YES	1	NO	Use of school records of identifiable students or information from instructors about
					specific students
		YES	1	NO	Protected health or medical information when there is a direct or indirect link that could
					identify the participant
		YES	1	NO	Collection of sensitive aspects of the participant's own behavior, such as illegal
					conduct, drug use, sexual behavior or use of alcohol
		YES	7	NO	Deception of participants
	OJECT Subje	DESC ect Popu	RIPTI ulatio	ON n (Desc	Please complete a PROTOCOL FORM for Expedited or Full Board Review. Stration for more information. (Phone: 334-844-5966 or Email: IRBAdmin@auburn.edu) Tibe, include age, special population characteristics, etc.) Imple for this study will consist of part-time and full-time adult learners, II-time faculty members at a four-year institution in Southeastern United
	Stat	es. Th	is s	tudv w	ill only include adult learners and faculty age 19 years or older, enrolled University. There is minimal risks associated with participation in this

3.

2 of 3

 Brief summary of project. (Include the research question(s) and a brief description of the methodology, including recruitment and how data will be collected and protected.)

The purpose of this study is to examine the academic, social and environmental needs of adult learners in an effort to enhance the manner in which four-year institutions address the needs of this student group. This study will explore whether relationships exist between the perceptions of part-time and full-time adult learners and part-time and full-time faculty members at a four-year institution.

Research Questions

- 1. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' academic needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' academic needs in the university setting?
- 2. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' social needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' social needs in the university setting?
- 3. What is the relationship between part-time and full-time adult learners' environmental needs and part-time and full-time faculty perceptions of adult learners' environmental needs in the university setting?

Methodology

This study is non-experimental and a cross-sectional survey methodology will be used for data collection. A survey questionnaire will be administered to all participants in accessing academic, social and environmental needs of adult learners at four-year institutions. Confidentiality will be maintained for all responses. Data collected will remain anonymous, information will be recorded in a way that participants cannot be identified. The principal investigator will oversee data collection and protection throughout this study.

d. Waiv	ers. Check any	waivers that a	pply and describe how the	project meets	the criteria for the waiver.		
	Waiver of Co	nsent (Includi	ing existing de-identified dat	ta)			
1	Waiver of Do	cumentation (of Consent (Use of Informati	ion Letter)			
1	Waiver of Pa	rental Permiss	sion (for college students)				
1 am	I am seeking a waiver of documentation of consent in order to utilize an information letter.						
I am	seeking a w	aiver of pa	rental permission for a	all participar	nts in this study are 19 year	ars of	
	or older.						
age e. Attac	hments. Please		ned Consents, Information L Is, or permission letters/site	7 TO THE RESERVE TO T			
e. Attac	chments. Pleasi rtisements/recri		ned Consents, Information L Is, or permission letters/site Open/r aport to Report III (Informer, De or Report III (Informer, a. or, and recharded in Appendix of the Day 2014 II 10 10 450 4 4000	7 TO THE RESERVE TO T			
age e. Attac adver	chments. Pleasi rtisements/recri	uiting material Reginald K. Roberson	Is, or permission letters/site Dipoly alport to Report II. Releases Dit or Phylosotti II. Releases, c. em, areas released in Releases, c. em, base 2014 1.10 10 42 de 4900 Dipoly laport in the III.	authorization	s as appropriate.		

APPENDIX C TROY UNIVERSITY INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD

Institutional Review Board

Adams Administration LL Rm 11 A Troy, AL 36082

334-808-6294 Office 334-670-3912 Fax

http://www.troy.edu/insti tutionalreview



March 10, 2015

Reginald K. Roberson Doctoral Student

Recruitment and Enrollment Troy University: Phenix City

Dear Mr. Roberson,

The Institutional Review Board has reviewed your project Adult learners in higher education: An examination of academic, social, and environmental needs as perceived by adult learners and faculty at a four-year institution and has determined it falls into the exempt category, meaning your research does not require IRB approval. However, if there are changes with your protocol placing participants at risk, you are responsible for immediately informing the IRB of these changes.

Please let me know if you have questions or if I can be of additional assistance.

Sincerely,

Xiaoli Su, Ph.D., Chair

Diadi Sz



APPENDIX D FACULTY INSTRUCTIONAL LETTER

This envelope contains:
Letter of Information to students
Script for Faculty Administrator
Surveys
Please distribute the Information Letters to all students. Students are to keep the Information Letter.
Read the Script to the class.
Distribute the Surveys to the class. Ask students to return survey to the faculty administrato once completed.
If you have any questions about this study, please contact the doctoral student, Reginald Roberson at roberre@auburn.edu or the chair of the doctoral committee, Dr. Maria Witte at mmwitte@auburn.edu .
Sincerely,
Reginald K. Roberson Doctoral Student-Auburn University

Dear Selected Faculty:

APPENDIX E SCRIPTS

Script for Recruiting Students

Listed below are the procedures to follow when recruiting students.

- Ask all students in the selected class if they would be willing to participate in a study regarding adult learner needs.
- 2. Say "The purpose of this study is to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. The study will compare the perceptions about adult learners' academic, social and environmental needs to faculty perceptions regarding the needs of adult learners in the four-year university setting. Specific comparisons will be made between the perceptions of full-time and part-time adult learners and full-time and part-time faculty. In addition, this study will determine if there is a relationship between the stated academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners and their needs as perceived by selected faculty members at one four-year public university in Alabama."
- 3. Say "You will be asked to complete the Adult Learner Needs Survey based on your perceptions of adult learner needs in the university environment. Your responses will be anonymous and reflect your personal knowledge and understanding of the adult learner.
 After the research is completed, all findings will be reported to your institution.

Script for distributing Information Letter and Adult Learner Needs Survey to Students

Faculty

Listed below are the procedures to follow when distributing the information letters and *Adult Learner Needs Survey* to students enrolled in your course, and willing to participate in this study.

Procedures for Distribution of Information Letters

- 1. Distribute the information letter to each student in the class and give them time to read over the letter.
- 2. Say: "You have been asked to participate in a survey. Keep in mind that this survey is anonymous and your participation is confidential. That means your answers will not be traced back to you. However, you must be completely honest. Your answers will affect the results of the study. Participation in this survey is completely voluntary."

Procedures for Distribution of Adult Learner Needs Survey

- 1. Distribute the survey to each student in the class.
- 2. Say: "Please answer all questions based on your perceptions regarding each statement. When you have completed the survey, you will return it to your instructor by placing your survey in the envelope.

Script for Recruiting Faculty Members

Listed below are the procedures to follow when recruiting faculty members.

- 1. Ask all full time and part time faculty members if they would be willing to participate in a study regarding adult learner needs.
- 2. Say "The purpose of this study is to examine the academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners, as perceived by adult learners and faculty, to enhance the way four-year universities address the needs of this student population. The study will compare the perceptions about adult learners' academic, social and environmental needs to faculty perceptions regarding the needs of adult learners in the four-year university setting. Specific comparisons will be made between the perceptions of full-time and part-time adult learners and full-time and part-time faculty. In addition, this study will determine if there is a relationship between the stated academic, social, and environmental needs of adult learners and their needs as perceived by selected faculty members at one four-year public university in Alabama."
- 3. Say "You will be asked to complete the *Adult Learner Needs Survey* based on your perceptions of adult learner needs in the university environment. Your responses will be anonymous and reflect your personal knowledge and understanding of the adult learner.

 After the research is completed, all findings will be reported to your institution.

Script for distributing Information Letter and Adult Learner Needs Survey to Faculty

Dean of Instruction

Listed below are the procedures to follow when distributing the information letters and *Adult Learner Needs Survey* to faculty willing to participate in this study.

Procedures for Distribution of Information Letters

- 1. Pass out the information letter to each full-time and part-time faculty member at your institution.
- 2. Say: "You have been asked to participate in a survey. Keep in mind that this survey is anonymous. That means that no one will be able to trace your answers back to you. However, you must be completely honest. Your answers will affect the results of the study."

Procedures for Distribution of Adult Learner Needs Survey

- 1. Distribute the survey to each full-time and part-time faculty member at your institution.
- 2. Say: "You are asked to complete the survey as if you are an adult learner. Use your perceptions of how you believe an adult learner would respond to each question. When you have completed the survey, please return it in the provided sealed envelope to the dean of instruction's office.

APPENDIX F

INSTRUMENT

Adult Learner Needs Survey

This is a study to compare adult learner needs, as perceived by adult learners, to faculty perception of adult learner needs within a university setting. By participating in this study, you will assist area universities in identifying better efforts to support you as an adult learner and faculty member. Adult learners at your university will be given a survey dealing with their academic, social, and environmental needs. You are asked to complete this survey on adult learner needs.

<u>General Directions</u>: This survey will take approximately 5 minutes to complete. Try to rate yourself according to how important the statements are to you as an adult learner (Very Important, Important, Somewhat Important, and Not Important). Keep in mind that there are no "right" or "wrong" answers. All responses are strictly confidential.

PART I: ACADEMIC/LEARNING NEEDS

#	Statement	Very Important	Important	Somewhat Important	Not Important
1	Learning at my own pace	0	0	0	0
2	Creating confidence about learning	0	0	0	0
3	Resources on campus are readily accessible at different times of the day	0	0	0	0
4	Availability of on-line resources (admissions, business, etc.)	0	0	0	0
5	Able to adjust to classes with traditional age students	0	0	0	0
6	Class availability/course offerings	0	0	0	0
7	Faculty capable of meeting my learning style	0	0	0	0
8	Faculty enthusiasm for teaching	0	0	0	0
9	Faculty concern for student progress	0	0	0	0
10	Faculty availability during office hours for extra help	0	0	0	0
11	Faculty willingness to listen to student questions/opinions	0	0	0	0
12	Academic advisor concern for you as an individual	0	0	0	0
13	College offerings of developmental education	0	0	0	0
14	Accessibility to remediation/tutorial labs	0	0	0	0
15	Courses staffed by full-time rather than part-time faculty	0	0	0	0
16	On-line course offerings	0	0	0	0
17	Weekend course offerings	0	0	0	0
18	Completing your college degree	0	0	0	0

PART II: SOCIAL NEEDS

#	Statement	Very Important	Important	Somewhat Important	Not Important
1	Involvement in social clubs/organizations	0	0	0	0
2	Attending campus performances/activities/engagements	0	0	0	0
3	Involvement in honor clubs	0	0	0	0

#	Statement	Very Important	Important	Somewhat Important	Not Important
4	Involvement in recreational activities (intramural sports)	0	0	0	0
5	Social activities on campus	0	0	0	0
6	Peer interactions	0	0	0	0
7	Making new friends	0	0	0	0
8	Participating in community work	0	0	0	0
9	Availability of job placement programs	0	0	0	0
10	Counseling services readily available	0	0	0	0
11	Opportunities to meet and interact socially with faculty members	0	0	0	0
12	Creating personal relationships with faculty members	0	0	0	0
13	Faculty interested in assisting students grow in more than just academic areas	0	0	0	0

PART III: ENVIRONMENTAL NEEDS

#	Statement	Very Important	Important	Somewhat Important	Not Important
1	Parking easily accessible	0	0	0	0
2	Accommodations	0	0	0	0
3	Elevator accessibility	0	0	0	0
4	Student health services	0	0	0	0
5	Daycare / Childcare services	0	0	0	0
6	Certainty of financial aid availability	0	0	0	0
7	Classroom environment conducive to learning	0	0	0	0
8	Tables in classrooms instead of desk	0	0	0	0
9	Campus security availability	0	0	0	0
10	Campus safety issues (lighting, security, etc.)	0	0	0	0
11	Encouragement/support from family and friends	0	0	0	0
12	Gaining future employment opportunities	0	0	0	0

PART IV: ADDITIONAL NEEDS/SERVICES (For additional space, use back of survey.)

1.	In what way(s) can this university improve services for adult learners?
2.	What specific services would be most useful to you as an adult learner?
2. —	What specific services would be most useful to you as an adult learner?
2.	What specific services would be most useful to you as an adult learner?

PART V: BACKGROUND INFORMATION

1.	Age:			

- 2. Sex (Male / Female)
- 3. Student status (Full-time / Part-time)
- 4. Faculty status (Full-time / Part-time)
- 5. Type of degree program you are pursuing

Associate Degree	Bachelor's Degree	Master's Degree	Educational Specialists	Other
0	0	0	0	0

Thank you for completing this survey. If you would have any questions or concerns, please contact Reginald K. Roberson by e-mail at roberre@auburn.edu or by phone at 706-660-2331.